



GENDER AND THE PREMATURE DEATHS OF PEOPLE WITH INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES

A Review of Evidence

This review formed the basis of an international expert consultation. The review is presented here as sent to respondents in the study and does not incorporate feedback received from respondents regarding the topics covered

Dr Janet Robertson & Professor Chris Hatton

This review has been funded by Public Health England. However, the findings and views expressed in this review are those of the authors and should not be attributed to Public Health England. 2019

Gender and the Premature Death of People with Intellectual Disabilities: A Review of Evidence

Contents

| Introduction | 4 |
|--|------|
| Mortality | 4 |
| Gender Differences in Mortality Compared to the General Population | 4 |
| Age Trends in Gender Differences in Mortality | 8 |
| Age at Death | .11 |
| Gender Differences in Health Conditions Related to Mortality (for specific syndromes see the | |
| relevant syndrome section) | .14 |
| Respiratory Disease | .14 |
| Cancer | . 17 |
| Cardiovascular Disease | . 19 |
| Dementia | . 22 |
| Epilepsy | .24 |
| Digestive System | .26 |
| Infectious Diseases | . 28 |
| Endocrine Disorders | . 29 |
| Diabetes | .30 |
| Bone health and fractures | .32 |
| Death from External Causes | . 35 |
| Specific Syndromes ¹ | .37 |
| Specific syndromes: Down syndrome ¹ | .37 |
| Specific syndromes: Rett Syndrome ¹ | .43 |
| Specific Syndromes: Fragile X Syndrome ¹ | .47 |
| Specific Syndromes: Prader Willi Syndrome ¹ | .48 |
| Gender Specific Health Conditions | .50 |
| Male Specific: Testicular Cancer | .50 |
| Male Specific: Prostate cancer | .52 |
| Female Specific: Breast Cancer | |
| Female Specific: Cervical Cancer | |
| Female Specific: Ovaries and Uteri Cancer | |
| Female Specific: Contraception ¹ | |

| Female Specific: Pregnancy and Childbirth ¹ | 62 |
|--|----|
| Female Specific: Menopause ¹ | 65 |
| Risk Factors for Mortality ¹ | 66 |
| Risk Factors: Overweight and Obesity ¹ | 66 |
| Risk Factors: Hypertension ¹ | 67 |
| Risk Factors: Physical Inactivity ¹ | 69 |
| Risk Factors: Smoking ¹ | 70 |
| Risk Factors: High Cholesterol ¹ | 71 |
| Risk Factors: Metabolic Syndrome ¹ | 72 |
| Low and Middle Income Countries | 74 |

¹ These sections or specific topics are optional in the online questionnaire based on this literature review and you will be given the option to miss them out if you wish

Introduction

A recent systematic review of early death and causes of death among people with intellectual disabilities found that standardized mortality rates (SMRs) showed a greater inequality for women than men (O'Leary et al., 2018). The majority of studies found that SMRs were higher for females with intellectual disabilities in comparison with males with intellectual disabilities. This indicates that the inequality in mortality rates between the population with intellectual disabilities and the general population is greater for females than males. The reason for this is unclear.

In this review, we consider the evidence regarding gender differences in mortality among people with intellectual disabilities. We also look at gender differences in health conditions (and external causes of death) related to mortality among people with intellectual disabilities. We include conditions that are important causes of death for people with intellectual disabilities, such as epilepsy and respiratory disease. We also look at gender specific issues such as testicular and cervical cancer. Each section regarding health conditions related to mortality presents evidence on gender differences in the risk of death from the condition, and evidence on gender differences in the prevalence or incidence of the condition. Overall, there is little evidence on gender differences in the prevalence or incidence of conditions related to common causes of death is important in beginning to understand gender differences in premature mortality. Where literature searches identified evidence on gender differences in health conditions related to mortality for specific syndromes, the evidence for each specific syndrome is presented in a separate section of the report.

Evidence is also presented on gender differences in relation to risk factors for common causes of death such as obesity, physical inactivity, and metabolic syndrome, which is the co-existence of several major risk factors for cardiovascular disease. The five leading global risks for mortality in the world are high blood pressure, tobacco use, high blood glucose, physical inactivity, and overweight and obesity (World Health Organization, 2009). For example, physical inactivity is estimated to cause around 21–25% of breast and colon cancer burden, 27% of diabetes and about 30% of ischaemic heart disease burden (World Health Organization, 2009). These risk factors form part of a causal chain for disease and have the potential for modification.

A commonly used figure in this review is the standardized mortality ratio (SMR) which is the ratio of number of observed deaths in the study group to number of deaths that would be expected based on death rates of a chosen standard population. This can be presented as either a ratio or a percentage. For consistency, where studies have presented the SMR as a percentage we have converted this to a ratio.

Mortality

Gender Differences in Mortality Compared to the General Population

A number of studies suggest that inequality in mortality rates between the population with intellectual disabilities and the general population is greater for females than males. These are summarised below.

A study in Finland included all individuals who during 1996–2011 received a disability pension, disability allowance or care allowance due to a diagnosis of intellectual disabilities. Based on 5,171 deaths of people with intellectual disabilities, a SMR difference between genders was consistently observed with the exception of no significant difference by gender for those with mild intellectual disabilities aged 0-14 (Arvio et al., 2016). The overall SMR for

females with mild intellectual disabilities was 2.80 (95% CI: 2.60–3.01) and for males 2.01 (95% CI 1.88, 2.14) (p < 0.001), and for females with severe intellectual disabilities 5.24 (95% CI 4.99, 5.50) and for males 2.59 (95% CI 2.48, 2.72) (p < 0.001).

- In a study of 693 people with intellectual disabilities in Australia, a population-derived cohort based on a prevalence study via multiple agencies, the SMR for males was 4.1 (95% CI 2.4, 5.9) and for females was 6.2 (95% CI 3.3, 9.1) (Durvasula et al., 2002). The years of potential life lost (YPLL) ratio for males was 5.9 (95% CI 5.6, 6.3) and for females was 8.0 (95% CI 7.4, 8.6) (meaning that there were eight times more YPLL in women with intellectual disabilities than expected compared to women in the general population) (Durvasula et al., 2002).
- For 40,705 people with intellectual disabilities aged 5 to 69 in Australia in receipt of intellectual disability services, the relative mortality of females with an intellectual disability compared to their same-aged female population peers was significantly greater (SMR 4.26, 95% CI 3.83, 4.74) than it was for males (SMR 2.52, 95% CI 2.29, 2.77) (Florio and Trollor, 2015).
- Based on 31,943 people on Ireland's National Intellectual Disability Database (NIDD) which includes people with an intellectual disability who are eligible for or receive services, the overall SMR for females was 4.90 (95% CI 4.63, 5.17), which was larger than that for males of 3.09 (95% CI 2.93, 3.25) (McCarron et al., 2015).
- For 2,995 adults with moderate to profound intellectual disabilities on the Leicestershire Intellectual Disability Register which includes those who use intellectual disability services (those with mild intellectual disabilities were excluded from the study), the all cause SMR for males was 2.28 (95% CI 2.02, 2.56), and for females 3.24 (95% CI 2.83, 3.69) (Tyrer and McGrother, 2009).
- For patients on GP registers in England with a recorded intellectual disability (664 deaths), the SMR for women (SMR 3.40, 95% CI 3.02, 3.81) was higher than that for men (SMR 3.03, 95% CI 2.73, 3.35) (Glover et al., 2017). GP registers may miss those with mild to moderate intellectual disability and no associated syndromic cause.
- For 2,436 adults with moderate to profound intellectual disabilities on the Leicestershire Intellectual Disability Register which includes those who use intellectual disability services (those with mild intellectual disabilities were excluded from the study), SMRs were higher in women than men across all age groups (Tyrer et al., 2007).
- Based on data from both US state intellectual and developmental disabilities service system administrative data sets and de-identified state Medicaid claims, females with intellectual and developmental disabilities were found to experience greater inequalities in mortality rates compared to the general population than males with intellectual and developmental disabilities (Lauer and McCallion, 2015). Administrative data sets are likely to underrepresent people with mild intellectual disabilities, higher socio-economic status and a high level of functioning in daily living activities.

The reason for the greater inequality in mortality rates reported for females with intellectual disabilities is unclear and one of the drivers for undertaking this review. It is interesting to note that in one study of 64,207 people with intellectual disabilities in the US in receipt of services, which specifically excluded people with intellectual disabilities who had physical disability, a degenerative or genetic condition (e.g. Down syndrome), serious medical condition, epilepsy or autism, the age-and sex-specific excess death rates (EDRs) and mortality ratios (MRs) were fairly comparable for males and females (Shavelle et al., 2014). It should also be noted that some conflicting results have been reported. For 16,666 adults with intellectual disabilities on general practice registers in

England (which may miss those with milder intellectual disabilities), a higher mortality risk among adults with intellectual disability was seen at all ages, and although the hazard ratio was higher among men than it was among women, the difference was not statistically significant after adjustment (Hosking et al., 2016). A recent study in Ontario, based on people with an intellectual and developmental disability coded encounter with the healthcare system (which may miss those with more mild intellectual disabilities), found that the SMR of males with intellectual and developmental disabilities (3.7, 95% CI 3.4, 4.1) was very similar to that of females with intellectual disabilities (3.6, 95% CI 3.3, 3.9) (Stankiewicz et al., 2018), suggesting that the disparities compared to people without intellectual disabilities were equivalent for males and females.

Summary

Whilst there are some conflicting results, the weight of evidence suggests that inequality in mortality rates between the population of people with intellectual disabilities and the general population is greater for females than males.

- Arvio M., Salokivi T., Tiitinen A. & Haataja L. (2016) Mortality in individuals with intellectual disabilities in Finland. *Brain and Behavior*, 6, e00431.
- Durvasula S., Beange H. & Baker W. (2002) Mortality of people with intellectual disability in northern Sydney. *Journal Of Intellectual & Developmental Disability*, 27, 255-264.
- Florio T. & Trollor J. (2015) Mortality among a Cohort of Persons with an Intellectual Disability in New South Wales, Australia. *Journal Of Applied Research In Intellectual Disabilities*, 28, 383-393.
- Glover G., Williams R., Heslop P., Oyinlola J. & Grey J. (2017) Mortality in people with intellectual disabilities in England. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 61, 62-74.
- Hosking F. J., Carey I. M., Shah S. M., Harris T., DeWilde S., Beighton C. & Cook D. G. (2016) Mortality Among Adults With Intellectual Disability in England: Comparisons With the General Population. *American Journal Of Public Health*, 106, 1483-1490.
- Lauer E. & McCallion P. (2015) Mortality of People with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities from Select US State Disability Service Systems and Medical Claims Data. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities,* 28, 394-405.
- McCarron M., Carroll R., Kelly C. & McCallion P. (2015) Mortality Rates in the General Irish Population Compared to those with an Intellectual Disability from 2003 to 2012. *Journal Of Applied Research In Intellectual Disabilities*, 28, 406-413.
- O'Leary L., Cooper S.-A. & Hughes-McCormack L. (2018) Early death and causes of death of people with intellectual disabilities: A systematic review. *Journal Of Applied Research In Intellectual Disabilities*, 31, 325-342.
- Shavelle R. M., Sweeney L. H. & Brooks J. C. (2014) Comparative mortality of persons with intellectual disability in California: an update (2000-2010). *Journal Of Insurance Medicine*, 44, 158-163.
- Stankiewicz E., Ouellette-Kuntz H., McIsaac M., Shooshtari S. & Balogh R. (2018) Patterns of mortality among adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities in Ontario. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 109, 866-872.
- Tyrer F. & McGrother C. (2009) Cause-specific mortality and death certificate reporting in adults with moderate to profound intellectual disability. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 53, 898-904.
- Tyrer F., Smith L. K. & McGrother C. W. (2007) Mortality in adults with moderate to profound intellectual disability: a population-based study. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 51, 520-527.

World Health Organization (2009) Global health risks: Mortality and burden of disease attributable to selected major risks. World Health Organization, Geneva.

Age Trends in Gender Differences in Mortality

A number of studies suggest that gender differences in mortality among people with intellectual disabilities when compared to the general population are mainly a feature of younger age groups. This evidence is summarised below.

- For 2,436 adults with moderate to profound intellectual disabilities on the Leicestershire Intellectual Disability Register which includes people receiving intellectual disability services (those with mild intellectual disability were excluded from the study), differences were particularly evident in the younger age groups. For people aged 20–29 years mortality was almost nine times higher in men (SMR 8.83; 95% CI 5.60, 13.25) and more than 17 times higher in women (SMR 17.22; 95% CI 9.64, 28.40). For ages 30-39 the SMR for men was 6.36 (95% CI 4.07, 9.46) and for women was 12.10 (95% CI 7.58, 18.32) (Tyrer et al., 2007). By age 70+ the SMRs were similar (men 1.39 (95% CI 1.03, 1.82); women 1.60 (95% CI 1.18, 2.12).
- Based on 31,943 people on Ireland's National Intellectual Disability Database (NIDD) which includes people with an intellectual disability who are eligible for or receive services, gender differences were particularly apparent at younger ages, with the SMR for those aged 0–19 years being more than four times higher in males (SMR 4.65, 95% CI 3.92, 5.49) and almost 11 times higher in females (SMR 10.77, 95% CI 8.99, 12.78) (McCarron et al., 2015).
- For patients on GP registers in England with a recorded intellectual disability (664 deaths), age specific data suggest higher death rates in women with intellectual disabilities are mostly a feature of younger age groups (Glover et al., 2017). GP registers may miss those with mild to moderate intellectual disability and no associated syndromic cause.
- A study in Finland included all individuals who during 1996–2011 received a disability pension, disability allowance or care allowance due to a diagnosis of intellectual disabilities. Based on 5,171 deaths of people with intellectual disabilities, the SMR difference between genders was particularly marked for younger people with severe intellectual disabilities (age 0-14 female SMR 21.35 (95% CI 16.58, 27.07), male SMR 8.22 (95% CI 5.92, 11.11); age 15-29 female SMR 20.47 (95% CI 17.10, 24.31), male SMR 5.85 (95% CI 4.95, 6.87)) (Arvio et al., 2016).
- For 4,812 adults with intellectual disabilities living in US households (i.e. only including respondents from the noninstitutionalized, civilian population and not those who have the most involved health and care needs and reside in a hospital or nursing home), females had higher mortality risk than males at younger ages, which decreased into middle age, was equivalent with males from ages 50 to 59, then lower than males in older age (Landes, 2017). Among those without intellectual disabilities, females consistently had lower mortality risk than males. At age 20, females with intellectual disabilities had an 18.44 higher odds ratio of mortality that decreased to 6.93 times higher by age 50, and was 2.60 times higher by age 80. In contrast, the odds ratio of mortality for males with intellectual disabilities was only 6.49 times higher at age 20, decreased to 3.65 times higher at age 50, and was 2.05 times higher at age 80. The disparity in mortality risk between those with and without intellectual disabilities was more severe for females from ages 20 to 49. The mortality disadvantage for men with intellectual disabilities was minimal at ages 20 to 29.
- For 18,362 people with intellectual disabilities aged 40 or more in institutions or community care in California who had received services from the Department of Developmental Services between 1980 and 1992, male mortality rates were about equal to females at age 40 but were nearly 50% higher by age 65 (Strauss and Kastner, 1996).

- A 35 year prospective cohort study in Finland of 2,336 people, who were identified by municipalities as having known or suspected intellectual disabilities, found that females formed the majority from 60 years of age onwards, whereas in the general population, the corresponding age was 35 years (Patja et al., 2000).
- A study in Australia included 19,362 people with intellectual disabilities who were registered users of disability services with intellectual disability as a primary or secondary diagnosis. The overall age standardised mortality rate (ASMR) for adult males with intellectual disabilities (12.5) was substantially higher than for adult females with intellectual disabilities (8.6), similar to the general population (Trollor et al., 2017). However, the impact of gender on ASMRs differed with age. In young and middle-aged adults, ASMRs of males and females with intellectual disabilities approximated one another, whereas in the corresponding age bands of the general population, ASMRs for males were approximately double those for females. The comparative mortality figure (people with intellectual disability compared to the general population) at ages 20-44 for males was 3.0 (95% CI 2.2, 4.0) and for females was 6.1 (95% CI 4.0, 9.5). For the entire age range of 20+ the figures were 1.4 (95% CI 1.1, 1.6) for males and 1.3 (95% CI 1.1, 1.6) for females.

Suggestions have been given as to underlying reasons for these age related differences in mortality risk. Landes (2017) suggests that the mortality disadvantage for men with intellectual disabilities was minimal at ages 20 to 29 as mortality risk for men in the general population is higher at younger ages due to violence, suicide, or car accidents and young men with intellectual disabilities may be sheltered from these causes of death (Landes, 2017) (see also the separate section on external causes of death below). A similar suggestion is given by Trollor et al (2017) who note that observed gender differences may be driven in part by a relative under-representation of deaths in young males with intellectual disabilities (compared to the general population), rather than an overrepresentation of deaths in young females with intellectual disabilities, with a low proportion of injury and poisoning deaths in males and females with intellectual disabilities compared with the general population (Trollor et al., 2017).

Landes (2017), commenting on the remarkable severity of the intellectual disability mortality disadvantage for females at younger ages, notes that per a heterogeneity of frailty explanation, this would indicate females with intellectual disabilities have increased health frailty at younger ages. The question is whether this is a physiological characteristic of this group, or related to possible differences in access to and utilization of needed health care (Landes, 2017). Some of the deaths experienced by adults with intellectual disabilities among younger age groups may actually be preventable were this population afforded health care access and support similar to that offered to the general population. Landes (2017) suggests that this may especially be true for females with intellectual disabilities who often do not receive needed gender related health care or health behaviour information at younger ages, resulting in poorer morbidity outcomes that could lead to earlier mortality.

Summary

The greater inequality in mortality rates for females with intellectual disabilities is mainly a feature of younger age groups.

- Arvio M., Salokivi T., Tiitinen A. & Haataja L. (2016) Mortality in individuals with intellectual disabilities in Finland. *Brain and Behavior*, 6, e00431.
- Glover G., Williams R., Heslop P., Oyinlola J. & Grey J. (2017) Mortality in people with intellectual disabilities in England. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 61, 62-74.
- Landes S. D. (2017) The Intellectual Disability Mortality Disadvantage: Diminishing With Age? American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities, 122, 192-207.
- McCarron M., Carroll R., Kelly C. & McCallion P. (2015) Mortality Rates in the General Irish Population Compared to those with an Intellectual Disability from 2003 to 2012. *Journal Of Applied Research In Intellectual Disabilities*, 28, 406-413.
- Patja K., livanainen M., Vesala H., Oksanen H. & Ruoppila I. (2000) Life expectancy of people with intellectual disability: a 35-year follow-up study. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 44, 591-599.
- Strauss D. & Kastner T. A. (1996) Comparative mortality of people with mental retardation in institutions and the community. *American Journal on Mental Retardation*, 101, 26-40.
- Trollor J., Srasuebkul P., Xu H. & Howlett S. (2017) Cause of death and potentially avoidable deaths in Australian adults with intellectual disability using retrospective linked data. *BMJ Open*, 7: e013489.
- Tyrer F., Smith L. K. & McGrother C. W. (2007) Mortality in adults with moderate to profound intellectual disability: a population-based study. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 51, 520-527.

Age at Death

For age at death, females with intellectual disabilities appear to be more disadvantaged compared to females in the general population than males, with the gap in life expectancy between those with and without intellectual disabilities being greater for females. Evidence regarding this is summarised below.

- Based on 31,943 people on Ireland's National Intellectual Disability Database (NIDD) which includes people with an intellectual disability who are eligible for or receive services, whilst females with intellectual disabilities had a significantly higher average age of death than males (56 vs 53), they were more disadvantaged relative to women in the general population than males. Females in the general population outlived females with intellectual disabilities by an average of 21 years compared to 17 years longer for males in the general population compared to males with intellectual disabilities (McCarron et al., 2015).
- Based on 19,362 people with intellectual disabilities in Australia (registered users of disability services with intellectual disability as a primary or secondary diagnosis) there was no significant difference between the median age at death for males (55 years) and females (52 years) with intellectual disabilities. This compares to the median age at death in the comparison group of 78 for males and 84 for females (Trollor et al., 2017).
- The Confidential Inquiry into premature deaths of people with intellectual disabilities in the UK took a population-based approach to reviewing all known deaths of people with intellectual disabilities in a particular geographical area, which were identified via a wide-ranging notification system. A total of 247 deaths were reviewed and the median age of death was lower for females (63) than males (65) (Heslop et al., 2014). On average, male individuals with intellectual disabilities died 13 years earlier than the population of England and Wales, and female individuals died 20 years earlier (Heslop et al., 2014).
- For 15,289 people with intellectual disabilities aged 55 or more in Sweden identified via two National registers, one covering all specialist health-care visits (out-patient visits and hospitalisation) and the other covering people accessing social/support services, the median survival time for men was 68.8 years and 69.8 years for women. This compared with 75.2 years for men and 78.4 years for women in the control population. The gender gap in median survival was relatively small among Swedish older adults with intellectual disabilities compared with the control population (Ng et al., 2017).
- For patients on GP registers in England with a recorded intellectual disability (664 deaths), life expectancy at birth for men with intellectual disabilities was 63.8 years (57.7 to 69.9) and 66.7 years (63.4 to 70.0) for women. This represents a shortfall for people with intellectual disabilities compared to the general population of 19.7 years for men and 20.2 years for women (Glover et al., 2017). GP registers may miss those with mild to moderate intellectual disability and no associated syndromic cause.
- Based on data from around half of GP practices in England, in 2017-18 females with intellectual disabilities had a life expectancy 18 years lower than females without intellectual disabilities (65 years compared to 83 years) and males with intellectual disabilities had a life expectancy 14 years lower than males who did not have intellectual disabilities (66 years compared to 80 years) (NHS Digital, 2019).
- A 35 year prospective cohort study in Finland of 2,336 people with intellectual disabilities, who were identified by municipalities as having known or suspected intellectual disabilities, found that survival between sexes differed less than in the general population for all levels of intellectual disabilities (Patja et al., 2000).

- Based on 1,236 deaths of people with intellectual disabilities between 1970 and 2012 in Finland, identified via two district organizations responsible for intellectual disability services, the average age at death was 22 years younger for men (95% CI: -24 to -20) and 30 years for women (95% CI: -33 to -27) (Arvio et al., 2017). Unlike in the general population, female individuals with intellectual disability had similar lifespans to those of the men (Arvio et al., 2017).
- A large scale study in Germany involved over 24,000 people with intellectual disabilities who were receiving social aid for integration, the majority of whom lived in residential settings. As in the general population, women with intellectual disabilities had a higher survival rate than men with intellectual disabilities but gender differences were smaller than in the general population (Dieckmann et al., 2015).
- A study in the US used data from both state intellectual and developmental disabilities service system administrative data sets and de-identified state Medicaid claims. Females with intellectual and developmental disabilities were found to experience greater inequalities compared to the general population than males with intellectual and developmental disabilities, including greater differences in average age at death (19.1 year difference for females; 16.8 year difference for males) (Lauer and McCallion, 2015). Administrative data sets are likely to under-represent people with mild intellectual disabilities, higher socio-economic status and high level of functioning in daily living activities.
- For around 25,000 children and adults on the National Intellectual Disability Database of Ireland (NIDD), which includes people with an intellectual disability who are eligible for or receive services, gender did not have a significant effect on lifespan either for the sample as a whole or within each level of intellectual disability. This was in contrast to the general population in Ireland where males have a shorter life expectancy (73 years) than females (78.5 years) (Lavin et al., 2006).
- For 29,290 adult and child residents of residential centres in the Netherlands (which may thus underrepresent those with milder intellectual disabilities), there were no systematic differences in age specific life expectancy between women and men with intellectual disabilities (Maaskant et al., 2002).
- For adult service recipients of the Massachusetts Department of Developmental Services (DDS) in 2014, the average age at death was lower for women (60.1) than men (61.7) although in other years females lived slightly longer than males (by 2.1 years in 2012 and 3.7 years in 2013) (Lauer et al., 2015).

Overall, the evidence is consistent in indicating that whilst the life expectancy of females with intellectual disabilities may be equal to or higher than that of males with intellectual disabilities, females with intellectual disabilities face a greater disadvantage compared to females in the general population than males with intellectual disabilities compared to males in the general population.

Summary

The gap in life expectancy between those with intellectual disabilities and the general population is greater for females than males.

- Arvio M., Salokivi T. & Bjelogrlic-Laakso N. (2017) Age at Death in Individuals with Intellectual Disabilities. *Journal Of Applied Research In Intellectual Disabilities*, 30, 782-785.
- Dieckmann F., Giovis C. & Offergeld J. (2015) The Life Expectancy of People with Intellectual Disabilities in Germany. *Journal Of Applied Research In Intellectual Disabilities*, 28, 373-382.
- Glover G., Williams R., Heslop P., Oyinlola J. & Grey J. (2017) Mortality in people with intellectual disabilities in England. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 61, 62-74.
- Heslop P., Blair P. S., Fleming P., Hoghton M., Marriott A. & Russ L. (2014) The Confidential Inquiry into premature deaths of people with intellectual disabilities in the UK: a population-based study. *Lancet*, 383, 889-895.
- Lauer E., Bruner-Canhoto L. & Oxx S. (2015) 2014 Preliminary Mortality Report. Center for Developmental Disabilities Evaluation and Research (CDDER). Available online at: <u>https://shriver.umassmed.edu/sites/shriver.umassmed.edu/files/2014%20DDS%20Prelimina</u> <u>ry%20Mortality%20Report%20Final.pdf</u> (accessed 11 Feb 2019).
- Lauer E. & McCallion P. (2015) Mortality of People with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities from Select US State Disability Service Systems and Medical Claims Data. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities,* 28, 394-405.
- Lavin K. E., McGuire B. E. & Hogan M. J. (2006) Age at death of people with an intellectual disability in Ireland. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*, 10, 155-164.
- Maaskant M. A., Gevers J. P. M. & Wierda H. (2002) Mortality and life expectancy in Dutch residential centres for individuals with intellectual disability, 1991-1995. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 15, 200-212.
- McCarron M., Carroll R., Kelly C. & McCallion P. (2015) Mortality Rates in the General Irish Population Compared to those with an Intellectual Disability from 2003 to 2012. *Journal Of Applied Research In Intellectual Disabilities*, 28, 406-413.
- Ng N., Flygare Wallén E. & Ahlström G. (2017) Mortality patterns and risk among older men and women with intellectual disability: a Swedish national retrospective cohort study. *BMC Geriatrics*, 17, 269-269.
- NHS Digital (2019) Health and Care of People with Learning Disabilities: 2017-18. Summary Report. NHS Digital. Available online at: <u>https://files.digital.nhs.uk/BA/4F4C1D/health-care-learning-disabilities-1718-sum.pdf</u> (accessed 18 March 2019).
- Patja K., livanainen M., Vesala H., Oksanen H. & Ruoppila I. (2000) Life expectancy of people with intellectual disability: a 35-year follow-up study. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 44, 591-599.
- Trollor J., Srasuebkul P., Xu H. & Howlett S. (2017) Cause of death and potentially avoidable deaths in Australian adults with intellectual disability using retrospective linked data. *BMJ Open*, 7: e013489.

Gender Differences in Health Conditions Related to Mortality (for specific syndromes see the relevant syndrome section)

Respiratory Disease

Respiratory disease is the leading cause of death for people with intellectual disabilities (46%-52%), with rates much higher than for the general population (15%-17%) (Thillai, 2010, Hollins et al., 1998, Puri et al., 1995, Douglas, 2010). Higher rates of asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and upper respiratory tract infections have been reported for people with intellectual disabilities (Emerson et al., 2011, Glover et al., 2012, Samele et al., 2006, Straetmans et al., 2007, Oeseburg et al., 2011). Despite being a leading cause of death, there is very little evidence regarding gender differences in relation to respiratory disease. The small amount of evidence identified is outlined below.

Risk of Death

A 35 year prospective cohort study in Finland of 2,336 people with intellectual disabilities, identified in a population based study as having known or suspected intellectual disabilities, examined specific causes of death in relation to 1,095 deaths (Patja et al., 2001). Men were at higher risk of death due to respiratory diseases than women in younger age groups (< 39 years), but at lower risk from 60 years of age onwards. A study including 2,995 adults with moderate to profound intellectual disabilities on the Leicestershire Intellectual Disability Register which includes those who use intellectual disability services (those with mild intellectual disabilities were excluded from the study), examined specific causes of death in relation to 503 deaths (Tyrer and McGrother, 2009). The SMR for bronchopneumonia was 6.46 (95% CI 4.52, 8.94) for males and 2.29 (95% CI 1.55, 3.28) for females. The SMR for other respiratory infections was 3.55 (95% CI 2.46, 4.96) for males and 6.04 (95% CI 4.10, 8.58) for females. The Confidential Inquiry into premature deaths of people with intellectual disabilities in the UK found that deaths from respiratory disorders occurred at an earlier age in people with intellectual disabilities than in the general population but with a similar gender gradient of women dying at a later age (male median age at death 65-69, female 70-75) (Heslop et al., 2013).

Incidence or Prevalence

For 1,371 adult group home residents in New York with intellectual disabilities aged between 40 and 79 years, results of logistic regression analysis indicate that respiratory disease was not associated with gender (Janicki et al., 2002). In an analysis of pooled data from three studies (including Janicki et al 2002) using the Rochester Health Status Survey, including a total of 4,449 older people with intellectual disabilities aged 40 or more, males in the combined cohort were less likely to have respiratory diseases (OR 0.25, 95% Cl 0.06, 1.00; p < 0.05) than females (Robinson et al., 2010). A study of oral opportunistic pathogen (OOP) infections in 31 people with motor and intellectual disabilities in one residential setting found that there was higher number of OOP-positive patients among males than among females (72.7% of men and 33.3% of women and any OOP; OR 77.21, 95% Cl 2.38 – 2506.02, p = 0.014) (Horie et al., 2014). However, the sample size is small and included only 10 females. Based on the primary care records of 1,097 adults (age 16 or more) with intellectual disabilities in Bristol, there was no significant difference between men and women in the overall prevalence of a diagnosis of asthma (Gale et al., 2009). Men diagnosed with asthma were significantly more likely to be current smokers (35.7%) than men who did not have asthma (17.7%) but the difference between women with (22.6%) and without (12.8%) asthma was non-significant.

Summary

There is not enough evidence to make conclusions about gender differences in the risk of death due to respiratory disease. Some evidence suggests that men aged over 40 with intellectual disabilities may be less likely to have respiratory diseases than women but further evidence is required to support this finding.

- Douglas N. A. (2010) Infectious diseases. In: *Intellectual disability and ill health : a review of the evidence*. (Eds. J. O'Hara, J. E. McCarthy & N. Bouras), pp. 47-60. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Emerson E., Baines S., Allerton L. & Welch V. (2011) Health Inequalities and People with Learning Disabilities in the UK: 2011. Improving Health and Lives: Learning Disabilities Observatory, Durham.
- Gale L., Naqvi H. & Russ L. (2009) Asthma, smoking and BMI in adults with intellectual disabilities: a community-based survey. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 53, 787-796.
- Glover G., Emerson E. & Eccles R. (2012) Using local data to monitor the Health Needs of People with Learning Disabilities. Improving Health & Lives: Learning Disabilities Public Health Observatory, Durham.
- Heslop P., Blair P., Fleming P., Hoghton M., Marriott A. & Russ L. (2013) Confidential Inquiry into premature deaths of people with learning disabilities (CIPOLD). Final report. Norah Fry Research Centre, Bristol.
- Hollins S., Attard M., van Fraunhofer N., McGuigan S. M. & Sedgwick P. (1998) Mortality in people with learning disability: risks causes, and death certification findings in London. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, 40, 50-56.
- Horie N., Nasu D., Endo M., Uchida A., Kaneko T., Shirakawa T. & Shimoyama T. (2014) Oral opportunistic infections in institutionalized patients with motor and intellectual disabilities. *Journal Of Oral Science*, 56, 85-89.
- Janicki M. P., Davidson P. W., Henderson C. M., McCallion P., Taets J. D., Force L. T., Sulkes S. B., Frangenberg E. & Ladrigan P. M. (2002) Health characteristics and health services utilization in older adults with intellectual disability living in community residences. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 46, 287-298.
- Oeseburg B., Dijkstra G. J., Groothoff J. W., Reijneveld S. A. & Jansen D. E. M. C. (2011) Prevalence of chronic health conditions in children with intellectual disability: A systematic literature review. *Intellectual & Developmental Disabilities*, 49, 59-85.
- Patja K., Mölsä P. & Iivanainen M. (2001) Cause-specific mortality of people with intellectual disability in a population-based, 35-year follow-up study. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 45, 30-40.
- Puri B. K., Lekh S. K., Langa A., Zaman R. & Singh I. (1995) Mortality in a hospitalized mentally handicapped population: a 10-year survey. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 39, 442-446.
- Robinson L., M., Davidson P., W., Henderson C. M., Janicki M., P., Merrick J., Morad M., Wang K., Yu, Hsieh K., Heller T., Bishop K., M. & Wexler O. (2010) Health trends from an international sample of older adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *International Journal* on Disability and Human Development, 9, 329-338.
- Samele C., Seymour L., Morris B., Central England People First, Cohen A. & Emerson E. (2006) A formal investigation into health inequalities experienced by people with learning difficulties and people with mental health problems: Area studies report. The Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health, London.

- Straetmans J. M. J. A. A., van Schrojenstein Lantman-de Valk H. M. J., Schellevis F. G. & Dinant G.-J.
 (2007) Health problems of people with intellectual disabilities: the impact for general practice. *British Journal of General Practice*, 57, 64–66.
- Thillai M. (2010) Respiratory diseases. In: *Intellectual disability and ill health : a review of the evidence*. (Eds. J. O'Hara, J. E. McCarthy & N. Bouras), pp. 78-87. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Tyrer F. & McGrother C. (2009) Cause-specific mortality and death certificate reporting in adults with moderate to profound intellectual disability. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 53, 898-904.

Cancer

Please note that evidence regarding gender specific cancers (e.g. breast cancer, testicular cancer) is contained within separate sections that follow later in this review.

Cancer is a leading underlying cause of death among people with intellectual disabilities (O'Leary et al., 2018). The first population-based cohort study of intellectual disabilities and cancer ever published, based on 2,173 people with intellectual disabilities in Finland followed up between 1967 and 1997, found that the overall incidence of cancer among people with intellectual disabilities was comparable with the general population (Patja et al., 2001a). Evidence regarding gender differences in cancer among people with intellectual disabilities is summarised below (gender specific cancers are covered in individual sections later in this review).

Risk of Death

A 35 year prospective cohort study in Finland of 2,336 people with intellectual disabilities, identified in a population based study as having known or suspected intellectual disabilities, examined specific causes of death in relation to 1,095 deaths (Patja et al., 2001b). The relative risk of cancer was significantly lower at all levels of intellectual disability and in all age groups, with no reported gender differences. A study including 2,995 adults with moderate to profound intellectual disabilities on the Leicestershire Intellectual Disability Register which includes those who use intellectual disability services (those with mild intellectual disabilities were excluded from the study), examined specific causes of death in relation to 503 deaths (Tyrer and McGrother, 2009). No differences in death due to neoplasms were found between those with intellectual disabilities and general population, with no reported gender differences.

The Confidential Inquiry into premature deaths of people with intellectual disabilities in the UK found that deaths from cancer in those with intellectual disabilities occurred at a much younger age than in the general population, especially among women (median age of death for females 55–59 years, males 60-64) (Heslop et al., 2013). For patients on GP registers in England with a recorded intellectual disability (664 deaths), in relation to cause of death, colorectal cancer was more common in men than in women (men SMR 2.68 (95% CI 1.34, 4.80), women SMR 1.85 (95% CI 0.60, 4.32)) (Glover et al., 2017).

Incidence or Prevalence

A study of 811 people with intellectual disabilities in Hong Kong found that rates of cancer were higher for women than for men (men 0.9%, women 3.7%) but it is noted that the participants were a purposive sample from 18 select residential care facilities in Hong Kong and may not be a representative sample (Wong, 2011). For 1,371 group home residents with intellectual disabilities in New York aged between 40 and 79 years, cancer increased significantly with age (p = 0.00001) and was more likely to occur in females (p = 0.018) (Janicki et al., 2002). Based on 9,409 people with intellectual disabilities in Australia, the age-standardised incidence of stomach cancer was significantly higher among males with intellectual disabilities compared to males in the general population (SIR 3.19, 95% CI 1.29, 6.59), but this was not the case for females with intellectual disabilities (Sullivan et al., 2004). However, colorectal cancers were significantly more common among women with intellectual disabilities (SIR 3.10, 95% CI 1.42, 5.88), while men showed no significant increase in risk (Sullivan et al., 2004). The authors suggest that obesity may be one factor in the increased colorectal cancer rate among women with intellectual disabilities (Sullivan et al., 2004). However, a recent review concluded that evidence is insufficient to evaluate differences between women and men with intellectual disabilities in relation to colorectal cancer (Willis et al.,

2018). Females had a significantly higher age-standardised SIR for leukaemia (SIR 4.64, 95% CI 2.40, 8.11) than men (SIR 3.31, 95% CI 1.81, 5.56) (Sullivan et al., 2004).

For 50 to 64 year olds in Ontario, both men and women with intellectual and developmental disabilities were less likely to have received a faecal occult blood test (FOBT) for colorectal cancer than people in the general population, but being female was associated with higher odds of being screened for people with intellectual disabilities (Ouellette-Kuntz et al., 2015).

Summary

There is little evidence relating to gender and the risk of death due to cancer in people with intellectual disabilities. Some studies report no association with gender. Deaths from cancer in those with intellectual disabilities may occur at a younger age than in the general population, especially among women. Whilst gender differences have been reported with regards to the risk of specific types of cancer among people with intellectual disabilities, evidence is insufficient and further research is required to confirm these findings.

- Glover G., Williams R., Heslop P., Oyinlola J. & Grey J. (2017) Mortality in people with intellectual disabilities in England. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 61, 62-74.
- Heslop P., Blair P., Fleming P., Hoghton M., Marriott A. & Russ L. (2013) Confidential Inquiry into premature deaths of people with learning disabilities (CIPOLD). Final report. Norah Fry Research Centre, Bristol.
- Janicki M. P., Davidson P. W., Henderson C. M., McCallion P., Taets J. D., Force L. T., Sulkes S. B., Frangenberg E. & Ladrigan P. M. (2002) Health characteristics and health services utilization in older adults with intellectual disability living in community residences. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 46, 287-298.
- O'Leary L., Cooper S.-A. & Hughes-McCormack L. (2018) Early death and causes of death of people with intellectual disabilities: A systematic review. *Journal Of Applied Research In Intellectual Disabilities*, 31, 325-342.
- Ouellette-Kuntz H., Coo H., Cobigo V. & Wilton A. S. (2015) Uptake of colorectal cancer screening among Ontarians with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Plos One*, 10, e0118023e0118023.
- Patja K., Eero P. & Iivanainen M. (2001a) Cancer incidence among people with intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 45, 300-307.
- Patja K., Mölsä P. & Iivanainen M. (2001b) Cause-specific mortality of people with intellectual disability in a population-based, 35-year follow-up study. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 45, 30-40.
- Sullivan S. G., Hussain R., Threlfall T. & Bittles A. H. (2004) The incidence of cancer in people with intellectual disabilities. *Cancer Causes Control*, **15**, 1021-1025.
- Tyrer F. & McGrother C. (2009) Cause-specific mortality and death certificate reporting in adults with moderate to profound intellectual disability. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 53, 898-904.
- Willis D., Samalin E. & Satgé D. (2018) Colorectal Cancer in People with Intellectual Disabilities. *Oncology*, 95, 323-336.
- Wong C. W. (2011) Adults with intellectual disabilities living in Hong Kong's residential care facilities:
 A descriptive analysis of health and disease patterns by sex, age, and presence of Down syndrome. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, 8, 231-238.

Cardiovascular Disease

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are a group of disorders of the heart and blood vessels including coronary heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, congenital heart disease, and deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism (World Health Organization, 2017). Globally more people die annually from CVDs than from any other cause (World Health Organization, 2017).

Risk of Death

A 35 year prospective cohort study in Finland of 2,336 people with intellectual disabilities, identified in a population based study as having known or suspected intellectual disabilities, examined specific causes of death in relation to 1,095 deaths (Patja et al., 2001). The relative risk of death due to vascular diseases was lower for men with intellectual disabilities than men in the general population in all groups and for most women except those with mild or moderate ID aged between 20 and 39 years. A study including 2,995 adults with moderate to profound intellectual disabilities on the Leicestershire Intellectual Disability Register which includes those who use intellectual disability services (those with mild intellectual disabilities were excluded from the study), examined specific causes of death in relation to 503 deaths. Deaths from ischaemic heart disease and other diseases of the circulatory system were more common in women with intellectual disabilities (SMRs 1.74 and 2.18 respectively) but not men (compared to those in the general population) (Tyrer and McGrother, 2009). The Confidential Inquiry into premature deaths of people with intellectual disabilities in the UK reviewed 247 deaths and found that deaths from heart and circulatory disorders were less prevalent in women (17%) than men (25%) and occurred at a younger age for both gender groups than in the general population (Heslop et al., 2013).

Incidence or Prevalence

Findings regarding gender differences in relation to the prevalence of cardiovascular disease (CVD) in people with intellectual disabilities are mixed. For people with intellectual disabilities aged 33 years or older living in institutions (n=614) or living with their family (n=514) in Taiwan, CVDs were more likely to occur in females (p = 0.046) (Wang et al., 2007). For 436 people with intellectual disabilities supported by one provider in the Netherlands in residential settings (aged 0-19 to 70+), 59 (14%) were found to have cardiac disease and 6 (1%) congenital heart defects (van den Akker et al., 2006). The prevalence of cardiac disease was higher in women than men (17% vs 10%). In logistic regression the adjusted odds ratio (female vs male) for cardiac disease was 1.64 (90% CI 1.01, 2.67). However, all kinds of conditions were included (congenital, hypertension, arterial and venous conditions) and it is noted that the difference was mainly due to higher prevalences in women of diseases of veins, lymphatic vessels and lymph nodes on the one hand, and on the other hand, diseases of arteries, arterioles and capillaries (van den Akker et al., 2006). Diseases of veins included phlebitis, thrombophlebitis, portal vein thrombosis, other venous embolism, and thrombosis, varicose veins of the lower extremities and other sites, haemorrhoids, oesophageal varices (van den Akker et al., 2006).

A Canadian study comparing medical outcomes for 1,457 women and 1,951 men with intellectual and developmental disabilities newly initiating antipsychotic medication found that women were at higher risk for venous thromboembolism (HR 1.72, 95% CI 1.15, 2.59; cumulative incidence 10.5% v. 2.7%) and death (HR 1.46, 95% CI 1.02, 2.10; cumulative incidence 4.8% v. 3.2%), with thromboembolism risk remaining greater for women after covariate adjustment (aHR 1.58, 95% CI 1.05, 2.38) (Vigod et al., 2018). The authors suggest that the increased risk of venous thromboembolism should be considered in the clinical care of women newly starting antipsychotic medication (Vigod et al., 2018).

A number of studies report no difference in CVD by gender. A study of 811 adults with intellectual disabilities in Hong Kong found that rates of heart disease were similar for men and women (men 6.9%, women 8.7%) but it is noted that the participants were a purposive sample from 18 select residential care facilities in Hong Kong and may not be a representative sample (Wong, 2011). For 510 people with intellectual disabilities aged over 50 living in residential settings in the Netherlands, prevalence and incidence of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (myocardial infarctions (MI) and cerebrovascular accidents (CVA)) did not differ to a general population control group and there was no association with gender (Jansen et al., 2013). For 1,371 group home residents with intellectual disabilities in New York aged between 40 and 79 years, there was no association between gender and cardiovascular disease (Janicki et al., 2002). In an analysis of pooled data from three studies (including Janicki et al 2002) using the Rochester Health Status Survey, including a total of 4,449 older people with intellectual disabilities aged 40 or more, there was again no association between gender and cardiovascular disease (Robinson et al., 2010).

Heart rate variability (HRV) represents an autonomic function. Reduced HRV significantly increases cardiovascular mortality and has been related to ischemic heart disease and heart failure (Chang et al., 2012). Of 129 adults with intellectual disabilities in one Taiwanese institution who participated in annual examinations, HRV examination results in people with intellectual disabilities were significantly higher in men compared with women (P < 0.05) (Chang et al., 2012).

Summary

There is little evidence on gender differences in the risk of death from CVDs. Evidence regarding gender differences in the prevalence of CVDs is mixed, with some studies suggesting that women with intellectual disabilities are more at risk, and other studies finding no evidence of a gender difference. For those newly initiating antipsychotic medication, being female appears to be associated with a greater risk of venous thromboembolism.

- Chang Y.-W., Lin J.-D., Chen W.-L., Yen C.-F., Loh C.-H., Fang W.-H. & Wu L.-W. (2012) Metabolic syndrome and short-term heart rate variability in adults with intellectual disabilities. *Research In Developmental Disabilities*, 33, 1701-1707.
- Heslop P., Blair P., Fleming P., Hoghton M., Marriott A. & Russ L. (2013) Confidential Inquiry into premature deaths of people with learning disabilities (CIPOLD). Final report. Norah Fry Research Centre, Bristol.
- Janicki M. P., Davidson P. W., Henderson C. M., McCallion P., Taets J. D., Force L. T., Sulkes S. B., Frangenberg E. & Ladrigan P. M. (2002) Health characteristics and health services utilization in older adults with intellectual disability living in community residences. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 46, 287-298.
- Jansen J., Rozeboom W., Penning C. & Evenhuis H. M. (2013) Prevalence and incidence of myocardial infarction and cerebrovascular accident in ageing persons with intellectual disability. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 57, 681-685.
- Patja K., Mölsä P. & Iivanainen M. (2001) Cause-specific mortality of people with intellectual disability in a population-based, 35-year follow-up study. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 45, 30-40.
- Robinson L., M., Davidson P., W., Henderson C. M., Janicki M., P., Merrick J., Morad M., Wang K., Yu, Hsieh K., Heller T., Bishop K., M. & Wexler O. (2010) Health trends from an international sample of older adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *International Journal* on Disability and Human Development, 9, 329-338.

- Tyrer F. & McGrother C. (2009) Cause-specific mortality and death certificate reporting in adults with moderate to profound intellectual disability. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 53, 898-904.
- van den Akker M., Maaskant M. A. & van der Meijden R. J. M. (2006) Cardiac diseases in people with intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 50, 515-522.
- Vigod S. N., Lunsky Y., Cobigo V., Wilton A. S., Somerton S. & Seitz D. P. (2018) Morbidity and mortality of women and men with intellectual and developmental disabilities newly initiating antipsychotic drugs. *BJPsych Open*, 2, 188-194.
- Wang K. Y., Hsieh K., Heller T., Davidson P. W. & Janicki M. P. (2007) Carer reports of health status among adults with intellectual/developmental disabilities in Taiwan living at home and in institutions. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 51, 173-183.
- Wong C. W. (2011) Adults with intellectual disabilities living in Hong Kong's residential care facilities: A descriptive analysis of health and disease patterns by sex, age, and presence of Down syndrome. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, **8**, 231-238.
- World Health Organization (2017) Cardiovascular Diseases (CVDs): Key Facts. World Health Organization. Available online at: <u>https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds</u>).

Dementia

Risk of Death

A study including 2,995 adults with moderate to profound intellectual disabilities on the Leicestershire Intellectual Disability Register which includes those who use intellectual disability services (those with mild intellectual disabilities were excluded from the study), examined specific causes of death in relation to 503 deaths. Deaths related to dementia were more common in men with intellectual disabilities (SMR 4.57, 95% CI 1.24, 11.70) but not women (SMR 0.88, 95% CI 0.02, 4.91) (Tyrer and McGrother, 2009).

Incidence or Prevalence

In the general population, females have a higher risk of Alzheimer's Disease (AD) than men (Li and Singh, 2014) whereas males are at greater risk of developing vascular dementia (Podcasy and Epperson, 2016). Studies suggest an increased risk of dementia among women with intellectual disabilities compared to men (Axmon et al., 2017). Based on 3,609 women and 4,327 men with intellectual disabilities aged 55+ in Sweden, women were more likely than men to have at least one diagnosis of dementia (odds ratio 1.40, 95% Cl 1.06, 1.83) (Axmon et al., 2017). Based on 295 men and 295 women with intellectual disabilities living in community settings and referred to a specialist mental health service in South-East London, more women had a diagnosis of dementia than men (5.8% vs 1.7%) (Tsakanikos et al., 2006). Of 222 people with intellectual disabilities aged 60 or over assessed for dementia, 9.4% of men and 17.1% of women met criteria for dementia but gender differences in prevalence were not statistically significant (Pearson's chi square 2.92, p=0.087), although the authors acknowledge that the study may have lacked the power to make within group comparisons (Strydom et al., 2009). Of 134 people aged 65 or over living in Leicestershire, a greater proportion of women than men were assessed as having dementia (28.4% vs 14.9%, chi square 3.55, df 1, p = .050) (Cooper, 1997). For 8,655 adults aged 18+ years with intellectual and/or developmental disabilities in Canada, the prevalence of dementia identified via records was 7.2% for males and 9.2% for females (compared to 2.2% and 3.1% in the general population) although no statistics are presented relating to any gender difference in prevalence (Shooshtari et al., 2017).

Summary

There is very little evidence on gender differences in the risk of death related to dementia among people with intellectual disabilities. Women with intellectual disabilities appear to be at greater risk of having dementia than men with intellectual disabilities.

- Axmon A., Sandberg M. & Ahlström G. (2017) Gender differences in psychiatric diagnoses in older people with intellectual disability: a register study. *BMC Psychiatry*, 17, 192-192.
- Cooper S.-A. (1997) High prevalence of dementia among people with learning disabilities not attributable to Down's syndrome. *Psychological Medicine*, 27, 609-616.
- Li R. & Singh M. (2014) Sex differences in cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Front Neuroendocrinol*, 35, 385-403.
- Podcasy J. L. & Epperson C. N. (2016) Considering sex and gender in Alzheimer disease and other dementias. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci,* 18, 437-446.
- Shooshtari S., Stoesz B. M., Udell L., Fenez L., Dik N., Burchill C., Sachs E. & Menec V. (2017) Aging with intellectual and developmental disabilities and dementia in Manitoba. *Advances in Mental Health and Intellectual Disabilities*, 11, 134-144.

- Strydom A., Hassiotis A., King M. & Livingston G. (2009) The relationship of dementia prevalence in older adults with intellectual disability (ID) to age and severity of ID. *Psychological Medicine*, 39, 13-21.
- Tsakanikos E., Bouras N., Sturmey P. & Holt G. (2006) Psychiatric co-morbidity and gender differences in intellectual disability. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 50, 582-587.
- Tyrer F. & McGrother C. (2009) Cause-specific mortality and death certificate reporting in adults with moderate to profound intellectual disability. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 53, 898-904.

Epilepsy

Risk of Death

We have identified only one study that considers gender in relation to the risk of death due to epilepsy. A 35 year prospective cohort study in Finland of 2,336 people with intellectual disabilities, identified in a population based study as having known or suspected intellectual disabilities, examined specific causes of death in relation to 1,095 deaths (Patja et al., 2001). Sixteen deaths were due to epileptic seizures. The mean age at death from epilepsy was 29.8 years and there was no significant variation by level of intellectual disability or gender.

Incidence or Prevalence

There is no strong evidence to suggest that overall the prevalence of epilepsy varies between men and women with intellectual disabilities. In a systematic review of the prevalence of epilepsy in people with intellectual disabilities, where male and female prevalence figures were given separately (nine studies), pooled estimates were 24.8% (95% Cl 19.6, 30.8) for males and 22.2% (17.3, 28.1) for females (Robertson et al., 2015). However, a more recent study, based on a representative sample of 953 people with intellectual developmental disorders in Spain, found that women were more likely than men to experience epilepsy (men 29.1%, women 33.0%, OR 1.15 (95% Cl not given)) (Folch et al., 2019). Further research is required to establish any difference in epilepsy prevalence between men and women with intellectual disabilities.

For adults with intellectual disabilities and epilepsy, one study based on the Leicestershire Intellectual Disability Register has reported the all cause standardised mortality ratio (SMR) to be higher for women (SMR 5.6 (95% CI 4.6, 6.7)) than for men (SMR 3.2 (95% CI 2.7–3.8)) (Kiani et al., 2014). Nearly two-thirds of adults who died from sudden unexpected death in epilepsy (SUDEP) in those both with and without intellectual disabilities were male (Kiani et al., 2014). The study also reports SMRs for SUDEP (probable or definite) for people with intellectual disabilities although this is based on only 26 deaths (17 of whom were men) and confidence intervals are wide (male SMR 37.6 (95% CI 21.9, 60.2); female SMR 52.0 (95% CI 23.8, 98.8)) (Kiani et al., 2014).

Summary Statement

The extremely limited evidence suggests that there are no gender differences in the risk of death due to epilepsy among people with intellectual disabilities. One study suggests that all cause mortality may be higher for women than men with intellectual disabilities who have epilepsy. Overall there is no strong evidence to suggest that the prevalence of epilepsy varies between men and women with intellectual disabilities.

- Folch A., Salvador-Carulla L., Vicens P., Cortés M. J., Irazábal M., Muñoz S., Rovira L., Orejuela C., González J. A. & Martínez-Leal R. (2019) Health indicators in intellectual developmental disorders: The key findings of the POMONA-ESP project. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 32, 23-34.
- Kiani R., Tyrer F., Jesu A., Bhaumik S., Gangavati S., Walker G., Kazmi S. & Barrett M. (2014) Mortality from sudden unexpected death in epilepsy (SUDEP) in a cohort of adults with intellectual disability. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 58, 508-520.

- Patja K., Mölsä P. & Iivanainen M. (2001) Cause-specific mortality of people with intellectual disability in a population-based, 35-year follow-up study. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 45, 30-40.
- Robertson J., Hatton C., Emerson E. & Baines S. (2015) Prevalence of epilepsy among people with intellectual disabilities: A systematic review. *Seizure: European Journal of Epilepsy*, 29, 46-62.

Digestive System

Risk of Death

A 35 year prospective cohort study in Finland of 2,336 people with intellectual disabilities identified in a population based study as having known or suspected intellectual disabilities, examined specific causes of death in relation to 1,095 deaths (Patja et al., 2001). Diseases of the digestive system as a primary cause of death were 2.5 times more common than in the general population and associated with profound intellectual disabilities and male sex (Patja et al., 2001). A study including 2,995 adults with moderate to profound intellectual disabilities on the Leicestershire Intellectual Disability Register which includes those who use intellectual disability services (those with mild intellectual disabilities were excluded from the study), examined specific causes of death in relation to 503 deaths (Tyrer and McGrother, 2009). Both men and women with intellectual disabilities were at higher risk of death due to digestive system diseases than the general population but there was no difference by gender with a SMR of 2.21 (95% CI 1.14, 3.86) for men and 2.57 (95% CI 1.17, 4.88) for women. For patients on GP registers in England with a recorded intellectual disability (664 deaths), in relation to cause of death, colorectal cancer was more common in men than in women (men SMR 2.68 (95% CI 1.34, 4.80), women SMR 1.85 (95% CI 0.60, 4.32)) (Glover et al., 2017).

Incidence or Prevalence

A study of 811 people with intellectual disabilities in Hong Kong found that rates of gastrointestinal disease were similar for men and women (men 1.4%, women 2.4%) but it is noted that the participants were a purposive sample from 18 select residential care facilities in Hong Kong and may not be a representative sample (Wong, 2011). For 1,371 group home residents with intellectual disabilities in New York aged between 40 and 79 years, a higher prevalence of gastro-intestinal disorders was seen among males (Janicki et al., 2002). In a similar study, for 1,373 adults aged 33 to 79 years with intellectual disabilities living in small group homes in New York State, male gender was found to be an independent predictor of gastroesophageal reflux but the reason for this was unknown (Henderson et al., 2009) and the relationship was not found in a previous study of a large cohort of institutionalized intellectually disabled individuals (Bohmer et al., 1999). In an analysis of pooled data from three studies (including Janicki et al 2002) using the Rochester Health Status Survey, including a total of 4,449 older people with intellectual disabilities aged 40 or more, gender was not associated with gastro-intestinal conditions (Robinson et al., 2010).

Summary

Evidence on gender differences in the risk of death due to diseases of the digestive system is limited and conflicting. There is also limited and conflicting evidence regarding gender differences in the risk of digestive system disorders among people with intellectual disabilities.

- Bohmer C. J., Niezen-de Boer M. C., Klinkenberg-Knol E. C., Deville W. L., Nadorp J. H. & Meuwissen S. G. (1999) The prevalence of gastroesophageal reflux disease in institutionalized intellectually disabled individuals. *Am J Gastroenterol*, 94, 804-810.
- Glover G., Williams R., Heslop P., Oyinlola J. & Grey J. (2017) Mortality in people with intellectual disabilities in England. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 61, 62-74.
- Henderson C. M., Rosasco M., Robinson L. M., Meccarello J., Janicki M. P., Turk M. A. & Davidson P.
 W. (2009) Functional impairment severity is associated with health status among older persons with intellectual disability and cerebral palsy. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 53, 887-897.

- Janicki M. P., Davidson P. W., Henderson C. M., McCallion P., Taets J. D., Force L. T., Sulkes S. B., Frangenberg E. & Ladrigan P. M. (2002) Health characteristics and health services utilization in older adults with intellectual disability living in community residences. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 46, 287-298.
- Patja K., Mölsä P. & Iivanainen M. (2001) Cause-specific mortality of people with intellectual disability in a population-based, 35-year follow-up study. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 45, 30-40.
- Robinson L., M., Davidson P., W., Henderson C. M., Janicki M., P., Merrick J., Morad M., Wang K., Yu, Hsieh K., Heller T., Bishop K., M. & Wexler O. (2010) Health trends from an international sample of older adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *International Journal* on Disability and Human Development, 9, 329-338.
- Tyrer F. & McGrother C. (2009) Cause-specific mortality and death certificate reporting in adults with moderate to profound intellectual disability. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 53, 898-904.
- Wong C. W. (2011) Adults with intellectual disabilities living in Hong Kong's residential care facilities: A descriptive analysis of health and disease patterns by sex, age, and presence of Down syndrome. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, 8, 231-238.

Infectious Diseases

Risk of Death

A 35 year prospective cohort study in Finland of 2,336 people with intellectual disabilities identified in a population based study as having known or suspected intellectual disabilities, examined specific causes of death in relation to 1,095 deaths (Patja et al., 2001). Excess mortality was observed for infectious diseases but no gender related difference was reported.

Incidence or Prevalence

For 1,371 adult group home residents in New York with ID aged between 40 and 79 years, infectious diseases (including urinary tract infections, positive tuberculosis test, pneumonia, bronchitis, cellulitis and sinusitis) significantly increased with age (P < 0.0001), and occurred more often in females (P = 0.008) (Janicki et al., 2002). In an analysis of pooled data from three studies (including Janicki et al 2002) using the Rochester Health Status Survey, including a total of 4,449 older people with ID aged 40 or more, males in the combined cohort were less likely to have infectious diseases than females (OR 0.24, 95% CI 0.10, 0.57; p < 0.01) (Robinson et al., 2010). This may be related to an increased risk of urinary tract infections among women compared to men with intellectual disabilities, as found in the general population (Henderson et al., 2009)

Summary

The small amount of evidence on the risk of death from infectious diseases among people with intellectual disabilities shows no gender difference. The little evidence available suggests that older women with intellectual disabilities may be more likely to suffer from infectious diseases than men. This may be related to an increased risk of urinary tract infections. Further research is required to confirm these findings.

- Henderson C. M., Rosasco M., Robinson L. M., Meccarello J., Janicki M. P., Turk M. A. & Davidson P.
 W. (2009) Functional impairment severity is associated with health status among older persons with intellectual disability and cerebral palsy. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 53, 887-897.
- Janicki M. P., Davidson P. W., Henderson C. M., McCallion P., Taets J. D., Force L. T., Sulkes S. B., Frangenberg E. & Ladrigan P. M. (2002) Health characteristics and health services utilization in older adults with intellectual disability living in community residences. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 46, 287-298.
- Patja K., Mölsä P. & Iivanainen M. (2001) Cause-specific mortality of people with intellectual disability in a population-based, 35-year follow-up study. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 45, 30-40.
- Robinson L., M., Davidson P., W., Henderson C. M., Janicki M., P., Merrick J., Morad M., Wang K., Yu, Hsieh K., Heller T., Bishop K., M. & Wexler O. (2010) Health trends from an international sample of older adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *International Journal* on Disability and Human Development, 9, 329-338.

Endocrine Disorders

In relation to endocrine disorders, diabetes is covered in a separate section below.

Risk of Death

There does not appear to be any evidence on gender differences in the risk of death due to endocrine disorders among people with intellectual disabilities.

Incidence or Prevalence

For 1,371 adult group home residents in New York with ID aged between 40 and 79 years, endocrine disorders were more common among females (p = 0.00001) (Janicki et al., 2002). In an analysis of pooled data from three studies (including Janicki et al 2002) using the Rochester Health Status Survey, including a total of 4,449 older people with ID aged 40 or more, males in the combined cohort were less likely to have endocrine diseases (OR 0.22, 95% Cl 0.09, 0.53; p < 0.05) (Robinson et al., 2010). A recent study, based on a representative sample of 953 people with intellectual developmental disorders in Spain, found that women were more likely than men to suffer from thyroid disease (men 6.4%, women 13.7%, OR 2.28 (95% Cl not given)) (Folch et al., 2019).

Summary

We are not aware of any evidence on gender differences in the risk of death due to endocrine disorders. Endocrine disorders have been reported to be more common among women than men with intellectual disabilities but the evidence is limited. There does not appear to be any evidence comparing the risk of endocrine disorders among men and women with intellectual disabilities to men and women in the general population.

- Folch A., Salvador-Carulla L., Vicens P., Cortés M. J., Irazábal M., Muñoz S., Rovira L., Orejuela C., González J. A. & Martínez-Leal R. (2019) Health indicators in intellectual developmental disorders: The key findings of the POMONA-ESP project. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 32, 23-34.
- Janicki M. P., Davidson P. W., Henderson C. M., McCallion P., Taets J. D., Force L. T., Sulkes S. B., Frangenberg E. & Ladrigan P. M. (2002) Health characteristics and health services utilization in older adults with intellectual disability living in community residences. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 46, 287-298.
- Robinson L., M., Davidson P., W., Henderson C. M., Janicki M., P., Merrick J., Morad M., Wang K., Yu, Hsieh K., Heller T., Bishop K., M. & Wexler O. (2010) Health trends from an international sample of older adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *International Journal* on Disability and Human Development, 9, 329-338.

Diabetes

Globally, diabetes was the seventh leading cause of death in 2016 with an estimated 1.6 million deaths directly caused by diabetes (World Health Organization, 2018).

Risk of Death

We are not aware of any evidence on gender differences in the risk of death due to diabetes among people with intellectual disabilities.

Incidence or Prevalence

Worldwide, there has been a shift from an excess prevalence of diabetes in women in 1980, to a higher male prevalence in 2014 (NCD Risk Factor Collaboration, 2016). This shift in diabetes prevalence from women towards men might be due to men having higher prevalences of some risk factors for diabetes, such as smoking, or being at risk of diabetes at lower BMI levels than women (NCD Risk Factor Collaboration, 2016). European men in the general population are usually diagnosed with diabetes at an earlier age and at lower BMI than women, with the most prominent sex difference being at younger age (Kautzky-Willer et al., 2016).

For people with intellectual disabilities, this male preponderance in diabetes prevalence may be reversed. For 7,936 people with intellectual disabilities aged 55+ in Sweden, women were more likely to have a diagnosis of diabetes than women in the general population (Relative Risk (RR) 1.69, 95% CI 1.42, 2.01) (Axmon et al., 2017). This was particularly the case for a non-insulin dependent diagnosis (RR 1.67, 95% CI 1.39, 2.01) as opposed to an insulin dependent diagnosis (RR 1.16, 95% CI 0.84, 1.61)). However, this was not the case for men with intellectual disabilities whose likelihood of a diagnosis of diabetes did not differ from men in the general population (RR 0.96, 95% CI 0.83, 1.10) (Axmon et al., 2017). Within the general population cohort, a higher risk of diabetes mellitus diagnosis was found for men (RR 1.64, 95% CI 0.81, 1.08) (Axmon et al., 2017). A high prevalence of being overweight among women with intellectual disabilities may be an explanation for their higher prevalence of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (Axmon et al., 2017).

Based on a cohort of 28,567 people with intellectual and developmental disabilities between 30–69 years of age in Canada, women with intellectual and developmental disabilities had a higher prevalence of diabetes (17.5%; no differentiation given between type I and type II diabetes) than men with intellectual and developmental disabilities (15.3%), but the opposite was true for people without IDD (men, 11.9%; women, 9.6%) (Balogh et al., 2015). The adjusted prevalence ratio for males was 1.33 (95% CI 1.28, 1.37) and for women 1.77 (95% CI 1.70, 1.83) (Balogh et al., 2015).

A further study in Sweden included people with intellectual disability excluding Down syndrome (n = 11,785); Down syndrome (n = 1,282) and a general population comparison group (n = 1,996,140) (Wallén et al., 2018). For those with intellectual disabilities but not Down syndrome, diabetes was more likely in both men (OR 2.005, 95% CI 1.795, 2.240) and women (OR 2.403, 95% CI 2.113, 2.733) (Wallén et al., 2018).

Among people age 50-70 with intellectual disabilities receiving formal care or support in the Netherlands (n=611) diabetes was more common among women with intellectual disabilities than those aged 50-70 in the general population (15.5% (95% Cl 11.3, 19.6) vs 8.0% (95% Cl 6.4, 9.6)). However, there was no difference for men (men with intellectual disabilities 10.0% (6.7, 13.3) vs 10.2% (95% Cl 8.3, 12.0)) (de Winter et al., 2012). A study of 811 people with intellectual disabilities in Hong Kong found that rates of diabetes were similar for men and women (men 4.1%, women

6.6%) but it is noted that the participants were a purposive sample from 18 select residential care facilities in Hong Kong and may not be a representative sample (Wong, 2011). However, for 291 adults with intellectual disabilities living in New York City, based on data from a review of medical records, a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus was less common among women with intellectual disabilities (adjusted odds ratio 0.38 (95% CI 0.10, 1.37)) (Sohler et al., 2009).

Summary

We are not aware of any evidence on gender differences in the risk of death due to diabetes among people with intellectual disabilities. Women with intellectual disabilities appear to have a higher prevalence of diabetes than women in the general population, particularly non-insulin dependent diabetes, but this has not been found for men with intellectual disabilities. A high prevalence of being overweight among women with intellectual disabilities may be an explanation for their higher prevalence of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus.

- Axmon A., Ahlström G. & Höglund P. (2017) Prevalence and treatment of diabetes mellitus and hypertension among older adults with intellectual disability in comparison with the general population. *BMC Geriatrics*, 17, 272-272.
- Balogh R. S., Lake J. K., Lin E., Wilton A. & Lunsky Y. (2015) Disparities in diabetes prevalence and preventable hospitalizations in people with intellectual and developmental disability: a population-based study. *Diabetic Medicine: A Journal Of The British Diabetic Association*, 32, 235-242.
- de Winter C. F., Bastiaanse L. P., Hilgenkamp T. I. M., Evenhuis H. M. & Echteld M. A. (2012) Cardiovascular risk factors (diabetes, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia and metabolic syndrome) in older people with intellectual disability: results of the HA-ID study. *Research In Developmental Disabilities*, 33, 1722-1731.
- Kautzky-Willer A., Harreiter J. & Pacini G. (2016) Sex and Gender Differences in Risk, Pathophysiology and Complications of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Endocrine Reviews*, 37, 278-316.
- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (2016) Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: a pooled analysis of 751 population-based studies with 4·4 million participants. *The Lancet,* 387, 1513-1530.
- Sohler N., Lubetkin E., Levy J., Soghomonian C. & Rimmerman A. (2009) Factors associated with obesity and coronary heart disease in people with intellectual disabilities. *Social Work In Health Care*, 48, 76-89.
- Wallén F. E., Ljunggren G., Carlsson A. C., Pettersson D. & Wändell P. (2018) High prevalence of diabetes mellitus, hypertension and obesity among persons with a recorded diagnosis of intellectual disability or autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 62, 269-280.
- Wong C. W. (2011) Adults with intellectual disabilities living in Hong Kong's residential care facilities: A descriptive analysis of health and disease patterns by sex, age, and presence of Down syndrome. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, 8, 231-238.
- World Health Organization (2018) Diabetes: Key Facts. World Health Organization. Available online at: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/diabetes</u>.

Bone health and fractures

Osteoporosis is a result of reduced bone mass and disruption of the micro-architecture of bone which leads to decreased bone strength and increased risk of fracture (Poole and Compston, 2006). Fragility fractures are associated with considerable disability, costs and an increased risk of mortality, which is particularly the case for fractures of the hip and vertebra (Sattui and Saag, 2014). Osteoporosis is generally thought of as a "woman's disease" because the prevalence of osteoporosis and the rate of fractures are much higher in postmenopausal women than in older men (Cawthon, 2011). However, older men still suffer poor health outcomes related to osteoporosis and fractures, and tend to have worse outcomes after fracture than women, being twice as likely to die after hip fracture than women (Cawthon, 2011). Further, a lower proportion of men at high risk of fracture are treated than women at high risk (Cawthon, 2011).

Risk of Death

A 35-year follow-up study of a nation-wide population of 2,369 people with intellectual disabilities in Finland found that among the elderly, women had an increased risk of fatal fracture compared to the general population (Patja et al., 2001).

Incidence or Prevalence

Studies indicate that people with intellectual disabilities may have an increased prevalence of osteoporosis and lower bone density than the general population (Tyler et al., 2000, Jaffe et al., 2005, Jaffe et al., 2001, Mergler et al., 2009, Center et al., 1998). There is some evidence that poor bone quality may be associated with being female among people with intellectual disabilities. A study of 768 persons with intellectual disabilities (aged 50 years or more) in the Netherlands used ultrasound to determine the prevalence of low bone quality (Bastiaanse et al., 2014). The prevalence of low bone quality was 43.9% and was associated with female gender (OR 2.37, 95% CI 1.44, 3.88). In Ireland, the prevalence of a doctor's diagnosis of osteoporosis for 753 people with intellectual disabilities aged 40 years and over was 8.1% and associated with female gender (OR 4.58, 95% CI 2.29, 9.17) (Burke et al., 2017). A large-scale population-based study in Greater Glasgow incorporating health assessments found an osteoporosis prevalence of 18.5% among 1,023 people with intellectual disabilities, with osteoporosis being more common in women (OR 2.34, 95% CI 1.64, 3.32) (Kinnear et al., 2018).

Being female has also been reported to be associated with fractures among people with intellectual disabilities. For 1,373 adults aged 33 to 79 years with intellectual disabilities living in small group homes in New York State, women were more likely than men to have osteoporosis (p = 0.0001) and fractures (p = 0.046) (Henderson et al., 2009). A study of people with intellectual disability and epilepsy found that fractures were more likely in women (32% of 121 participants) than men (20% of 142 participants) (Jancar and Jancar, 1998). A chart review of 93 women with intellectual disabilities found that the prevalence of fractures was very high with 32% (30/93) of the charts containing a history of an adult-onset fracture, with the average age of first fracture being 41.7 years (Schrager et al., 2007).

However, some studies indicate that osteoporosis and fractures may also be a significant issue for men with intellectual disabilities. Data from a 23-year longitudinal cohort registry of 1,434 people with severe and profound developmental disabilities found that gender was not a factor in fracture risk (Glick et al., 2005). Other studies have found male gender to be associated with low bone

density (Lohiya et al., 2004) and fractures (Lohiya et al., 1999, Vanlint and Nugent, 2006) in people with intellectual disabilities.

An increased risk of poor bone health or fractures in males with intellectual disabilities has been reported compared to the general population. An analysis of femoral fractures and of other fractures in 17,880 people with developmental disabilities (mainly people with intellectual disabilities and also some people with other disabilities) identified in a large health claims database in Germany found that for those age 20 or more, compared to the general population the age standardized incidence ratio was 4.80 for women (95% CI 3.44, 6.72) and 7.06 for men (95% CI 5.70, 8.74) (Büchele et al., 2017). A study including 30,522 individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities between the ages of 40 and 64 years of age in the United States found that the rate of low-trauma fractures was approximately three times greater than in adults without intellectual disabilities (Balogh et al., 2017). The highest ratio was found when comparing the rates between men with to those without intellectual and developmental disabilities (RR 3.64, 95 % CI 2.97, 4.47), but the ratio was also higher for women (RR 2.56, 95% CI 2.11, 3.09) and the crude low trauma fracture rate was greater for women with intellectual and developmental disabilities (78.99 per 10,000 population) than men (61.32). After adjusting for covariates, females with intellectual and developmental disabilities were 2.6 times more likely than males to receive a bone mineral density test post fracture (95 % CI 1.1, 5.9). Men with intellectual and developmental disabilities may be neglected when it comes to bone mineral density testing because female sex has been identified as a risk factor for osteoporosis in the general population which may influence clinical decision making (Balogh et al., 2017).

Summary

Older women with intellectual disabilities may be more at risk of fatal fracture than women in the general population. Poor bone health and fractures appear to be more common among women with intellectual disabilities than men. However, men with intellectual disabilities are also at increased risk of poor bone health and fractures compared to the general population.

- Balogh R., Lin E., Jaglal S., Lunsky Y., Wood J., Dobranowski K., Wilton A. & Gemmill M. (2017) Lowtrauma fractures and bone mineral density testing in adults with and without intellectual and developmental disabilities: a population study. *Osteoporosis International*, 28, 727-732.
- Bastiaanse L. P., Mergler S., Evenhuis H. M. & Echteld M. A. (2014) Bone quality in older adults with intellectual disabilities. *Research In Developmental Disabilities*, 35, 1927-1933.
- Büchele G., Becker C., Cameron I. D., Auer R., Rothenbacher D., König H. H. & Rapp K. (2017)
 Fracture risk in people with developmental disabilities: results of a large claims data analysis.
 Osteoporosis International, 28, 369-375.
- Burke E. A., McCallion P., Carroll R., Walsh J. B. & McCarron M. (2017) An exploration of the bone health of older adults with an intellectual disability in Ireland. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 61, 99-114.
- Cawthon P. M. (2011) Gender Differences in Osteoporosis and Fractures. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*, 469, 1900-1905.
- Center J., Beange H. & McElduff A. (1998) People With Mental Retardation Have an Increased Prevalence of Osteoporosis: A Population Study. *American Journal on Mental Retardation*, 103, 19-28.

- Glick N. R., Fischer M. H., Heisey D. M., Leverson G. E. & Mann D. C. (2005) Epidemiology of fractures in people with severe and profound developmental disabilities. *Osteoporosis International*, 16, 389-396.
- Henderson C. M., Rosasco M., Robinson L. M., Meccarello J., Janicki M. P., Turk M. A. & Davidson P.
 W. (2009) Functional impairment severity is associated with health status among older persons with intellectual disability and cerebral palsy. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 53, 887-897.
- Jaffe J. S., Timell A. M., Elolia R. & Thatcher S. S. (2005) Risk factors for low bone mineral density in individuals residing in a facility for the people with intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 49, 457-462.
- Jaffe J. S., Timell A. M. & Gulanski B. I. (2001) Prevalence of low bone density in women with developmental disabilities. *Journal of Clinical Densitometry*, **4**, 25-29.
- Jancar J. & Jancar M. P. (1998) Age-related fractures in people with intellectual disability and epilepsy. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 42 (Pt 5), 429-433.
- Kinnear D., Morrison J., Allan L., Henderson A., Smiley E. & Cooper S.-A. (2018) Prevalence of physical conditions and multimorbidity in a cohort of adults with intellectual disabilities with and without Down syndrome: cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open*, 8: e018292.
- Lohiya G., Tan-Figueroa L. & Iannucci A. (2004) Identification of low bone mass in a developmental center: finger bone mineral density measurement in 562 residents. *Journal Of The American Medical Directors Association*, 5, 371-376.
- Lohiya G. S., Crinella F. M., Tan-Figueroa L., Caires S. & Lohiya S. (1999) Fracture epidemiology and control in a developmental center. *The Western Journal Of Medicine*, 170, 203-209.
- Mergler S., Evenhuis H. M., Boot A. M., De Man S. A., Bindels-De Heus K. G., Huijbers W. A. & Penning C. (2009) Epidemiology of low bone mineral density and fractures in children with severe cerebral palsy: a systematic review. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 51, 773-778.
- Patja K., Mölsä P. & Iivanainen M. (2001) Cause-specific mortality of people with intellectual disability in a population-based, 35-year follow-up study. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 45, 30-40.
- Poole K. E. S. & Compston J. E. (2006) Osteoporosis and its management. BMJ, 333, 1251-1256.
- Sattui S. E. & Saag K. G. (2014) Fracture mortality: associations with epidemiology and osteoporosis treatment. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 10, 592.
- Schrager S., Kloss C. & Ju A. W. (2007) Prevalence of fractures in women with intellectual disabilities: a chart review. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 51, 253-259.
- Tyler C. V. J., Snyder C. W. & Zyzanski S. (2000) Screening for osteoporosis in community-dwelling adults with mental retardation. *Mental Retardation*, 38, 316-321.
- Vanlint S. & Nugent M. (2006) Vitamin D and fractures in people with intellectual disability. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 50, 761-767.

Death from External Causes

Adult males without intellectual disabilities often die in accidents and other violent circumstances, whilst deaths from accidents, suicides or violence are not as prevalent in young men with intellectual disabilities (Tyrer et al., 2007). The resulting difference in the mortality pattern leads to better survival of adult males with intellectual disabilities (Patja et al., 2001a). For example, for 2,995 adults on the Leicestershire Intellectual Disability Register accidental deaths were more common in women with intellectual disabilities (SMR 4.10), but not men compared to those in the general population (Tyrer and McGrother, 2009). Based on a subgroup of young adults aged 20-44 from 19,362 people with intellectual disabilities in Australia (registered users of disability services with intellectual disability as a primary or secondary diagnosis), the proportion of deaths from injury and poisoning was low for both males (9%) and females (10%) (Trollor et al., 2017). In contrast, the proportion of such deaths in a comparison cohort was much higher, and higher in males (52%) than females (30%).

Whilst less common among people with intellectual disabilities than in the general population, suicidality and completed suicides do occur among those with intellectual disabilities (Hurley, 2002). Based on 2,369 people with intellectual disabilities in Finland who were followed up over 35 years, women with intellectual disabilities had an equal suicide risk to Finnish women in general, while men with intellectual disabilities had only one-third of the population risk (with suicide being more common among men than women in the general population) (Patja et al., 2001a). In a related study examining specific causes of death, in age groups younger than 40 years, the relative disease mortality (i.e. excluding external causes) excess was larger for men than women with intellectual disabilities, but not thereafter (Patja et al., 2001b). Men with intellectual disabilities were at the highest risk of dying of disease in their first two decades, but at the same time, their risk of accident was only one tenth that of the general population (Patja et al., 2001b). Ageing increased the accident risk for both sexes with intellectual disabilities, particularly for women. Among older people, women with intellectual disabilities had an increased risk of fatal fracture compared to the general population, while for men with intellectual disabilities increased risk of external cause of death was caused by the higher suicide rate (Patja et al., 2001b). The difference between sexes in cause-specific mortality was smaller for people with intellectual disabilities than in the general population.

A further study of adults on the Leicestershire Intellectual Disability Register found that on excluding deaths from external injury, the mortality differences between younger men and women with intellectual disabilities narrowed (but still remained), particularly for those aged 20-29 where the male to female ratio of 1:1.95 lowered to 1:1.17 on excluding external causes of death (SMR 19.47 for men and SMR 22.71 for women) (Tyrer et al., 2007). Whilst deaths from accidents, suicides or violence are not as prevalent in young men with intellectual disabilities as in men in the general population, these results suggest that the disadvantages faced by women compared with men with intellectual disabilities cannot be wholly explained by external injury (Tyrer et al., 2007).

Summary

Men with intellectual disabilities are at less risk of death from external causes than men in the general population. However, the limited available evidence suggests that the mortality disadvantage of females with intellectual disabilities cannot be completely attributed to the differential pattern of mortality in relation to external causes of death.

- Hurley A. D. (2002) Potentially lethal suicide attempts in persons with developmental disabilities: Review and three new case reports. *Mental Health Aspects of Developmental Disabilities*, 5, 90-95.
- Patja K., livanainen M., Raitasuo S. & Lönnqvist J. (2001a) Suicide mortality in mental retardation:a 35-year follow-up study. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 103, 307-311.
- Patja K., Mölsä P. & Iivanainen M. (2001b) Cause-specific mortality of people with intellectual disability in a population-based, 35-year follow-up study. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 45, 30-40.
- Trollor J., Srasuebkul P., Xu H. & Howlett S. (2017) Cause of death and potentially avoidable deaths in Australian adults with intellectual disability using retrospective linked data. *BMJ Open*, 7: e013489.
- Tyrer F. & McGrother C. (2009) Cause-specific mortality and death certificate reporting in adults with moderate to profound intellectual disability. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 53, 898-904.
- Tyrer F., Smith L. K. & McGrother C. W. (2007) Mortality in adults with moderate to profound intellectual disability: a population-based study. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 51, 520-527.

Specific Syndromes¹

Specific syndromes: Down syndrome¹

People with Down syndrome appear to have an increased mortality risk compared to other people with intellectual disabilities. For 15,289 people with intellectual disabilities aged 55 or more in Sweden (Ng et al., 2017), the overall HR for those with intellectual disabilities was 4.14 (95% CI 3.98, 4.31) but for those with Down syndrome when separated out the HR was 25.4 (95% CI 21.3, 30.4).

There may be a relative survival advantage for males with Down syndrome. A study on the survival of people with intellectual disabilities in Western Australia from 1953 to 2000 found that males had a shorter median lifespan (66.7 years) compared with females (71.5 years) (Bittles et al., 2002). However, in a related study whilst the survival disadvantage was again found for males with intellectual disabilities, it was reversed in those with Down syndrome, with a median age of survival of 61.1 years for males and 57.8 years for females indicating a comparative survival advantage for males with Down syndrome (Glasson et al., 2003).

Other studies suggest that the survival advantage seen for females in the general population is not evident among people with Down syndrome. For 14,781 people with Down syndrome in the US, mortality rates did not differ by gender (Day et al., 2005). A study of a cohort of 917 children with Down syndrome born in Italy between 1978 and 1984 and studied for survival through the age of 8 years found no differences in survival by gender (Mastroiacovo et al., 1992). For 389 Irish children with Down syndrome, born between 1 January 1980 and 31 December 1989 and followed up to 1992, gender had no impact on survival (Hayes et al., 1997).

For 2,046 young people with Down syndrome aged 1-29 years hospitalised in Tennessee between 1997 and 2008, male deaths constituted 71–73% of all deaths in the age groups before age 20, but males then constituted less than half (47%) of all deaths during the 20–29-year age group, with a disadvantage for females beginning to emerge in the 20-29 year group (Miodrag et al., 2013). Significantly more females (57%) than males (43%) died from cardiac-related diseases and females who did die from heart problems were more often young adults supporting a suggestion that cardiac problems might partly account for the mortality disadvantage reported for women with Down syndrome (Miodrag et al., 2013). Cardiovascular disease is considered in detail below.

Cardiovascular Disease

Based on data from 4,081 people with Down syndrome and 16,324 without Down syndrome who had been hospitalized in Australia, Down syndrome was associated with a greater risk of incident cerebrovascular events (first admission for ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke, or transient ischemic attack) (Risk Ratio (RR) 2.70, 95% CI 2.08, 3.53) especially among females (RR 3.31, 95% CI 2.21, 4.94) (Sobey et al., 2015). Down syndrome was associated with a 40–70% reduced risk of any coronary event (first admission for myocardial infarction or angina) in males (RR 0.58, 95% CI 0.40, 0.84) but not in females (RR 1.14, 95% CI 0.73, 1.77) (Sobey et al., 2015). In males, Down syndrome was associated with a greater risk of any cerebrovascular event (RR 2.32, 95% CI 1.63, 3.30), stroke (RR 2.51, 95% CI 1.70, 3.69), ischemic stroke (RR 2.63, 95% CI 1.42, 4.87) or haemorrhagic stroke (RR 4.02, 95% CI 2.00, 8.10). In females, the magnitude of the associations were larger than in males for cerebrovascular events (RR 3.31, 95% CI 2.21, 4.94), stroke (RR 3.52, 95% CI 2.27, 5.45), and ischemic stroke (RR 5.84, 95% CI 2.93, 11.64) (Sobey et al., 2015). Results suggest that Ischemic stroke risk in Down syndrome appears mostly driven by cardioembolic risk. The greater risk of haemorrhagic stroke risk in males in males (RR 5.84, 95% CI 2.93, 95% CI 2.95% (PR 2.95%), with Down syndrome remain unexplained.

A study in the US estimated atherosclerotic burden in 52 community residing adults with Down syndrome compared to a control group via a noninvasive intima-media thickness (IMT) assessment of the carotid artery (Draheim et al., 2010). The mean IMT of adults with Down syndrome was significantly lower than the mean IMT of the matched control group and was predicted by male gender and physical activity but the model only predicted 33% of variance (Draheim et al., 2010).

People with congenital heart disease (CHD) are at risk of premature CVD (Lui et al., 2014). CHD is a leading cause of death for people with Down syndrome (O'Leary et al., 2018). Down syndrome is a risk factor for congenital heart disease, occurring in 40-60% of people with Down syndrome (Diogenes et al., 2017). A meta-analysis and systematic review found that female gender is a risk factor for the presence of congenital heart disease in people with Down syndrome (OR 1.514, CI 1.207, 1.899) (Diogenes et al., 2017). Atrioventricular septal defects (AVSD) alone also showed a higher frequency in female gender (OR 1.376, CI 1.206, 1.570) (Diogenes et al., 2017). Overall, there appears to be a higher prevalence of congenital heart disease, particularly AVSD, in females with Down syndrome (Diogenes et al., 2017). The results of this review and meta-analysis are supported by findings from a recent study of 230 infants with Down syndrome in Italy which found congenital heart defects to be more common in females, with the exception of Tetralogy of Fallot for which male gender was predominant (Santoro et al., 2018). For severe CHDs (CHDs with a higher risk of mortality), for those without Down syndrome there was a higher risk for males, but for those with Down syndrome there was a higher risk in females (RRR 0.38; 95% CI 0.25, 0.57) (Santoro et al., 2018).

A study of hospitalizations in adults with Down syndrome and congenital heart disease in the United States found that Down syndrome was associated with higher in-hospital mortality (OR 1.8, 95% CI 1.4, 2.4), especially in women (OR 2.4, 95% CI 1.7, 3.4), with women with Down syndrome being at higher risk for death relative to women without Down syndrome than men were (Baraona et al., 2013). Women with Down syndrome were at significantly higher risk for dying during hospitalization than men with Down syndrome (OR 1.7, 95% CI 1.1, 2.8; multivariate OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.2, 4.5). The reasons for these gender related differences are unclear. Among patients without Down syndrome, men and women had equivalent rates of in-hospital death (OR 0.9, 95% CI 0.7, 1.1; multivariate OR 1.1, 95% CI 0.8, 1.5).

Cancer

A study by Patja et al (2001) found no cancer cases in women with Down syndrome, producing a significantly reduced risk of cancer for these individuals (SIR 0, 95% CI 0.0, 0.9), whilst men with Down syndrome shared the same risk as the general population (SIR 1.1, 95% CI 0.2, 3.3) (Patja et al., 2001). There has been more research directed at cancer among people with Down syndrome than among people with intellectual disabilities as a whole. Gender related differences from studies relating to Down syndrome are noted below.

An early review of cancers in people with Down syndrome suggested that there was a marked preponderance of males that was definitely proven for megakaryoblastic leukaemias and was probable for lymphomas, germ cell tumours, and retinoblastomas (Satgé et al., 1998). For people with Down syndrome in Israel between 1948 and 1995 a significant excess of gastric cancer was found in institutionalised males born before 1979 (Boker et al., 2001). Based on 1,298 people with Down syndrome in Western Australia, the rates for solid (non-leukaemia) tumours were significantly lower for males in the Down syndrome cohort compared to the general population (age-standardized incidence ratio (SIR) 0.21, 95% CI 0.03, 0.75), but this was not the case for females (SIR 0.70, 95% CI 0.26, 1.53) (Sullivan et al., 2007). SIRs for leukaemia were significantly higher for both

males and females with Down syndrome (Sullivan et al., 2007). For 2,814 people with Down syndrome in Denmark, the SIR for solid tumours was significantly lower in females (SIR 0.26, 95% CI 0.10, 0.53) than in males (SIR 0.82, 95% CI 0.48, 1.32) (Hasle et al., 2000). This was partly due to an absence of breast cancer in women with Down syndrome, whereas 7.3 cases were expected (Hasle et al., 2000).

For 3,581 people with Down syndrome in Finland followed up for a mean of 17.7 years, the SIR for leukaemia in women across all ages (SIR 18.4, 95% CI 10.5, 29.8) was higher than in men (SIR 10.5, 95% CI 6.6, 15.8), and remained significantly high until age 39 (Patja et al., 2006). However, a study of 4,872 people with Down syndrome in Sweden and Denmark found that the risks of leukaemia and solid tumours did not differ by gender (data not presented) (Hill et al., 2003).

A study on acute leukaemia in children with Down syndrome in the Nordic countries found that, of 136 children with Down syndrome diagnosed with acute leukaemia, for acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) there was a strong female predominance (ratio female:male 2.27 vs. 1.06 in non-DS patients) (Zeller et al., 2005). However, the authors highlight conflicting studies and note that whether the considerable female predominance represents a real epidemiological difference is an open question (Zeller et al., 2005). A study of 120 patients with Down syndrome (DS) and childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) found that there were more girls than boys (p.027) (Arico et al., 2008).

Dementia

For people with Down syndrome, few studies have examined the risk of dementia separately for men and women and future research should address this issue (Schupf et al., 2018). An early review found that the few studies that had presented results separately for men and women found conflicting results (Schupf and Sergievsky, 2002). An early small scale study reported that females with Down syndrome had earlier onset of dementia than males (mean age: 48.8 +/- 1.9, vs. 53.6 years; s.e.m. +/- 1.3; p = 0.05) and a more severe form of AD (Raghavan et al., 1994). Another study reported that there was a higher risk of AD among men than women with Down syndrome, with earlier age of onset (Schupf et al., 1998), although one possibility for the higher prevalence of dementia among men in the study is that the behavioural manifestations of early dementia in men with Down syndrome may have been more disturbing and obvious than they were in women (Lai et al., 1999). For 100 adults with Down syndrome (ages 35 to 79 years) assessed longitudinally, the incidence of AD was greater in women than in men (OR for males 0.32, 95% Cl 0.13, 0.78; p = 0.01) although by age 65, the cumulative incidence of dementia was approximately the same in men and women (Lai et al., 1999).

Studies are consistent in showing that early age at menopause and low levels of endogenous bioavailable estradiol in postmenopausal women with Down syndrome are associated with earlier age at onset and overall risk for dementia (Schupf et al., 2018). Reductions in estrogen following menopause may contribute to the cascade of pathological processes leading to AD in women with Down syndrome (Zhao et al., 2011). For women with Down syndrome, early age at menopause is associated with a 1.8 fold increased risk of dementia (Hazard Ratio (HR): 1.82 (95% CI 1.31, 2.52) and with risk of death (HR 2.05 (95% CI: 1.33, 3.16) (Coppus et al., 2010). Similarly, based on 163 postmenopausal women with Down syndrome, women with early onset of menopause (46 years or younger) had earlier onset and increased risk of Alzheimer's disease (AD) compared with women with onset of menopause after 46 years (rate ratio, 2.7; 95% CI 1.2, 5.9) (Schupf et al., 2003).

Diabetes

A study in Sweden included people with intellectual disability excluding Down syndrome (n = 11,785); Down syndrome (n = 1,282) and a general population comparison group (n = 1,996,140) (Wallén et al., 2018). When adjusted for age, women with Down syndrome were more likely to have diabetes than women in the general population (Odds Ratio (OR) 1.783 (95% CI 1.167, 2.725) but this was not the case for men with Down syndrome (OR 0.704 (95% CI 0.424, 1.171). For those with intellectual disabilities but not Down syndrome, diabetes was more likely in both men (OR 2.005, 95% CI 1.795, 2.240) and women (OR 2.403, 95% CI 2.113, 2.733) (Wallén et al., 2018).

Bone Health and Fractures

Contributory factors to developing osteoporosis include earlier-than-average age at menopause for women (Petty et al., 2016) and this is an issue for women with Down syndrome. A study of 23 postmenopausal women with Down syndrome, with bone mass densities measured at three sites, found that nearly all of the women (87%) had osteopenia or osteoporosis in at least one of the three sites measured (Milberger et al., 2002). They also had higher relative risk for fracture when compared with women in the general population of the same age and ethnicity, with 30% already having a history of a fractured or broken bone that occurred during adulthood.

However, for men with Down syndrome poor bone health is also a significant issue. A study in Hong Kong which used scans to assess bone health in 128 people with Down syndrome found that for men with Down syndrome, the overall prevalence of osteopenia and osteoporosis at lumbar spine was 40% and 8% respectively, with the figures for women being 23% and 8% (Tang et al., 2019). Based on DXA scans from 234 adults with Down syndrome aged 20-69, adults with Down syndrome have lower bone mineral density compared to the general population and they experience a steeper decline with age and men with Down syndrome had a lower bone mineral apparent density (BMAD)¹ than women (Carfi et al., 2017). The authors suggest that this finding might be related to the role of androgens in the pathogenesis of osteoporosis in men with Down syndrome given the high prevalence of hypogonadism and hypoandrogenism that characterizes this condition.

Summary

Limited evidence suggests that the survival advantage for females seen in the general population might not be evident for females with Down syndrome. Evidence is consistent in indicating that females with Down syndrome are more likely to have congenital heart disease than males. Further evidence is required regarding gender and cancer in people with Down syndrome. Few studies have examined the risk of dementia separately for men and women with Down syndrome. Women with Down syndrome may be at increased risk of diabetes. Poor bone health and fractures are common among women with Down syndrome and this is also a significant issue for men with Down syndrome.

References

Arico M., Ziino O., Valsecchi M. G., Cazzaniga G., Baronci C., Messina C., Pession A., Santoro N., Basso G. & Conter V. (2008) Acute lymphoblastic leukemia and Down syndrome: presenting

¹ Bone mineral apparent density (BMAD) refers to volumetric BMD and was used in order to correct for anthropometric differences between those with Down syndrome and the general population.

features and treatment outcome in the experience of the Italian Association of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology (AIEOP). *Cancer*, 113, 515-521.

- Baraona F., Gurvitz M., Landzberg M. J. & Opotowsky A. R. (2013) Hospitalizations and mortality in the United States for adults with Down syndrome and congenital heart disease. *The American Journal Of Cardiology*, 111, 1046-1051.
- Bittles A. H., Petterson B. A., Sullivan S. G., Hussain R., Glasson E. J. & Montgomery P. D. (2002) The influence of intellectual disability on life expectancy. *The Journals Of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences And Medical Sciences*, **57**, M470-M472.
- Boker L. K., Blumstein T., Sadetzki S., Luxenburg O., Litvak I., Akstein E. & Modan B. (2001) Incidence of leukemia and other cancers in Down syndrome subjects in Israel. *International Journal Of Cancer*, 93, 741-744.
- Carfi A., Liperoti R., Fusco D., Giovannini S., Brandi V., Vetrano D., Meloni E., Mascia D., Villani E., Manes Gravina E., Bernabei R. & Onder G. (2017) Bone mineral density in adults with Down syndrome. *Osteoporosis International*, 28, 2929-2934.
- Coppus A. M. W., Evenhuis H. M., Verberne G. J., Visser F. E., Eikelenboom P., Van Gool W. A., Janssens A. C. J. W. & Van Duijn C. M. (2010) Early age at menopause is associated with increased risk of dementia and mortality in women with down syndrome. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, **19**, 545-550.
- Day S. M., Strauss D. J., Shavelle R. M. & Reynolds R. J. (2005) Mortality and causes of death in persons with Down syndrome in California. *Developmental Medicine And Child Neurology*, 47, 171-176.
- Diogenes T. C. P., Mourato F. A., de Lima Filho J. L. & Mattos S. d. S. (2017) Gender differences in the prevalence of congenital heart disease in Down's syndrome: a brief meta-analysis. *BMC Medical Genetics*, 18, 111-111.
- Draheim C. C., Geijer J. R. & Dengel D. R. (2010) Comparison of intima-media thickness of the carotid artery and cardiovascular disease risk factors in adults with versus without the Down syndrome. *The American Journal Of Cardiology*, 106, 1512-1516.
- Glasson E. J., Sullivan S. G., Hussain R., Petterson B. A., Montgomery P. D. & Bittles A. H. (2003) Comparative survival advantage of males with Down syndrome. *American Journal Of Human Biology*, 15, 192-195.
- Hasle H., Clemmensen I. H. & Mikkelsen M. (2000) Risks of leukaemia and solid tumours in individuals with Down's syndrome. *Lancet*, 355, 165-169.
- Hayes C., Johnson Z., Thornton L., Fogarty J., Lyons R., O'Connor M., Delany V. & Buckley K. (1997) Ten-year survival of Down syndrome births. *International Journal Of Epidemiology*, 26, 822-829.
- Hill D. A., Gridley G., Cnattingius S., Mellemkjaer L., Linet M., Adami H.-O., Olsen J. H., Nyren O. & Fraumeni J. F., Jr. (2003) Mortality and cancer incidence among individuals with Down syndrome. Archives Of Internal Medicine, 163, 705-711.
- Lai F., Kammann E., Rebeck G. W., Anderson A., Chen Y. & Nixon R. A. (1999) APOE genotype and gender effects on Alzheimer disease in 100 adults with Down syndrome. *Neurology*, 53, 331-336.
- Lui G. K., Fernandes S. & McElhinney D. B. (2014) Management of Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Adults With Congenital Heart Disease. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 3, e001076.
- Mastroiacovo P., Bertollini R. & Corchia C. (1992) Survival of children with Down syndrome in Italy. *American Journal Of Medical Genetics*, 42, 208-212.
- Milberger S., LeRoy B., Lachance L. & Edelson G. (2002) Osteoporosis and women with Down syndrome. *Journal Of Intellectual & Developmental Disability*, 27, 273-280.
- Miodrag N., Silverberg S. E., Urbano R. C. & Hodapp R. M. (2013) Deaths among children, adolescents, and young adults with Down syndrome. *Journal Of Applied Research In Intellectual Disabilities*, 26, 207-214.

- Ng N., Flygare Wallén E. & Ahlström G. (2017) Mortality patterns and risk among older men and women with intellectual disability: a Swedish national retrospective cohort study. *BMC Geriatrics*, 17, 269-269.
- O'Leary L., Hughes-McCormack L., Dunn K. & Cooper S.-A. (2018) Early death and causes of death of people with Down syndrome: A systematic review. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 31, 687-708.
- Patja K., Eero P. & Iivanainen M. (2001) Cancer incidence among people with intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 45, 300-307.
- Patja K., Pukkala E., Sund R., Iivanainen M. & Kaski M. (2006) Cancer incidence of persons with Down syndrome in Finland: a population-based study. *International Journal Of Cancer*, 118, 1769-1772.
- Petty S. J., Wilding H. & Wark J. D. (2016) Osteoporosis Associated with Epilepsy and the Use of Anti-Epileptics: A Review. *Current Osteoporosis Reports*, 14, 54-65.
- Raghavan R., Khin-Nu C., Brown A. G., Day K. A., Tyrer S. P., Ince P. G., Perry E. K. & Perry R. H. (1994) Gender differences in the phenotypic expression of Alzheimer's disease in Down's syndrome (trisomy 21). *Neuroreport*, 5, 1393-1396.
- Santoro M., Coi A., Spadoni I., Bianchi F. & Pierini A. (2018) Sex differences for major congenital heart defects in Down Syndrome: A population based study. *European Journal of Medical Genetics*, 61, 546-550.
- Satgé D., Sommelet D., Geneix A., Nishi M., Malet P. & Vekemans M. (1998) A tumor profile in Down syndrome. *American Journal Of Medical Genetics*, 78, 207-216.
- Schupf N., Kapell D., Nightingale B., Rodriguez A., Tycko B. & Mayeux R. (1998) Earlier onset of Alzheimer's disease in men with Down syndrome. *Neurology*, 50, 991-995.
- Schupf N., Lee J. H., Pang D., Zigman W. B., Tycko B., Krinsky-McHale S. & Silverman W. (2018) Epidemiology of estrogen and dementia in women with Down syndrome. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 114, 62-68.
- Schupf N., Pang D., Patel B. N., Silverman W., Schubert R., Lai F., Kline J. K., Stern Y., Ferin M., Tycko B. & Mayeux R. (2003) Onset of dementia is associated with age at menopause in women with Down's syndrome. *Annals Of Neurology*, 54, 433-438.
- Schupf N. & Sergievsky G. H. (2002) Genetic and host factors for dementia in Down's syndrome. *The British Journal Of Psychiatry: The Journal Of Mental Science*, 180, 405-410.
- Sobey C. G., Judkins C. P., Sundararajan V., Phan T. G., Drummond G. R. & Srikanth V. K. (2015) Risk of Major Cardiovascular Events in People with Down Syndrome. *Plos One*, 10, e0137093e0137093.
- Sullivan S. G., Hussain R., Glasson E. J. & Bittles A. H. (2007) The profile and incidence of cancer in Down syndrome. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 51, 228-231.
- Tang J. Y. M., Luo H., Wong G. H. Y., Lau M. M. Y., Joe G. M., Tse M. A., Ip P., Wong I. C. K. & Lum T. Y.
 S. (2019) Bone mineral density from early to middle adulthood in persons with Down syndrome. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research,* Online Early.
- Wallén F. E., Ljunggren G., Carlsson A. C., Pettersson D. & Wändell P. (2018) High prevalence of diabetes mellitus, hypertension and obesity among persons with a recorded diagnosis of intellectual disability or autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 62, 269-280.
- Zeller B., Gustafsson G., Forestier E., Abrahamsson J., Clausen N., Heldrup J., Hovi L., Jonmundsson G., Lie S. O., Glomstein A. & Hasle H. (2005) Acute leukaemia in children with Down syndrome: a population-based Nordic study. *British Journal Of Haematology*, 128, 797-804.
- Zhao Q., Lee J. H., Pang D., Temkin A., Park N., Janicki S. C., Zigman W. B., Silverman W., Tycko B. & Schupf N. (2011) Estrogen Receptor-Beta Variants Are Associated with Increased Risk of Alzheimer's Disease in Women with Down Syndrome. *Dementia & Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 32, 241-249.

Specific syndromes: Rett Syndrome¹

Rett syndrome is a genetic disorder that almost exclusively affects females and causes severe cognitive and physical impairments (Cianfaglione et al., 2015). The approximate incidence is 1:10,000 (Strydom et al., 2019). It represents the second most common cause of intellectual disabilities in females and the most common cause of intellectual disabilities caused by a gene mutation (De Felice et al., 2012).

Mortality

Survival among people with Rett syndrome is lower than among the general population. For 396 people with Rett syndrome followed up over 20 years, survival to the age of 20 years was 78.5% with 59.8% surviving to age 37 (Anderson et al., 2014). The most common cause of death was lower respiratory tract infection (36.8% 21/57), followed by aspiration/asphyxiation (31.6% 18/57), respiratory failure (14.0% 8/57) and seizure related illness (5.3% 3/57) (Anderson et al., 2014). A study of 1,189 people with Rett syndrome estimated that at least 95% of the classic Rett syndrome population survive until age 20, 80% survive until age 35, and more than 70% survive until age 50 (Tarquinio et al., 2015). The main cause of death was presumed or confirmed cardiorespiratory issues, often due to aspiration (Tarquinio et al., 2015). Based on 102 girls with Rett syndrome in Serbia, it was concluded that Serbian Rett syndrome patients have an increased risk for early death when compared to patients in more developed countries, most commonly due to pneumonia (Sarajlija et al., 2015).

For people with Rett syndrome, gastrointestinal problems, respiratory dysfunction such as hyperventilation, breath holding and apnoea, sleep disturbance, spinal curvature and epilepsy are common comorbidities (Anderson et al., 2014). Clinical and health data on 91 girls and women with Rett syndrome indicated that epilepsy, underweight, gastrointestinal and bowel problems were common co-occurring health issues (Cianfaglione et al., 2015).

Epilepsy

The majority of people with Rett syndrome have epilepsy, with reported rates of 60–80% (Cianfaglione et al., 2015). In the largest cohort studied, 68.1% of 1,248 females with Rett syndrome presented with epilepsy, with uncontrolled seizures in 32.6% of the people with epilepsy (Nissenkorn et al., 2015). In one study only 17.3% (71/411) had never experienced seizures and 64% were taking AEDs at the time of data collection (Anderson et al., 2014). Seizures were classified as drug resistant in 36.1% (95/263) of those experiencing epilepsy (Anderson et al., 2014). Constipation was also highly prevalent (83%) and many experienced bloating (53%) (Anderson et al., 2014). Biliary dyskinesia, inflammation or infection of the gallbladder was reported for 20 women (5%) and of those 13 had undergone gallbladder surgery. Other frequently reported medical conditions included urinary tract infections, pneumonia and other respiratory conditions (Anderson et al., 2014).

Respiratory Disorders

People with Rett syndrome are vulnerable to lower respiratory tract infections requiring hospitalization, which occurs more frequently in Rett syndrome than in the general population (MacKay et al., 2018). Scoliosis affects three-quarters of individuals with Rett syndrome by 15 years of age and this can impair posture and mobility as well as digestive and respiratory functioning (MacKay et al., 2018). Aspiration during or after seizures can also increase vulnerability to respiratory infection (MacKay et al., 2018). There may also be unrecognised lung disease. A study of 27 females with Rett syndrome which used high resolution CT scans of the thorax found that

pulmonary lesions, respiratory bronchiolitis-associated interstitial lung disease-like lesions, were present on imaging studies in about half of the participants (De Felice et al., 2010).

Cardiovascular Disease

Autonomic nervous system dysregulation may make those with Rett syndrome vulnerable to sudden death, with those with Rett syndrome being susceptible to sudden cardiac deaths attributable to underlying autonomic dysfunction (Kumar et al., 2017, Guideri et al., 2004, Guideri et al., 1999). Patients affected by Rett syndrome present a 300-fold increased risk of sudden cardiac death due to fatal arrhythmias (De Felice et al., 2012). A study of 92 patients with Rett syndrome (72 typical and 20 atypical Rett syndrome) gives echocardiographic evidence for a previously unrecognized subclinical systo-diastolic biventricular myocardial dysfunction in typical and atypical Rett syndrome patients (De Felice et al., 2012).

Episodes of autonomic arousals closely mimic seizures and contribute to significant parental anxiety and unnecessary use of antiepileptic drugs (Kumar et al., 2017). The heart rate variability (HRV) has emerged as the most valuable noninvasive test to measure the balance between the sympathetic and parasympathetic components of the autonomic nervous system (Kumar et al., 2017). A high variability in heart rate is a sign of good adaptability, whereas lower variability indicates insufficient adaptability of the autonomic nervous system (Kumar et al., 2017). Among 24 girls with Rett syndrome in India, compared to controls, girls with Rett syndrome exhibited significant cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction in the form of sympathetic overactivity, parasympathetic underactivity, and sympathovagal imbalance (Kumar et al., 2017). This study and other similar studies suggest that autonomic dysfunction is prevalent significantly in patients with Rett syndrome across diverse ethnic and geographic backgrounds compared with age-matched control subjects (Kumar et al., 2017).

Rett syndrome is characterized by disturbed breathing and heart rate during sleep (Rohdin et al., 2007). Cardiorespiratory dysregulation during wakefulness has also been found during breathholds as well as during "normal" breaths and during breaths before and subsequent to breathholds (Weese-Mayer et al., 2006). In a study of breathing and heart rate during the night among 47 girls with Rett syndrome aged 2–7 years and matched controls, girls with RS had faster, deeper, and more erratic breathing as well as heart rate dysregulation during sleep when compared to matched controls and when compared to wakefulness (Weese-Mayer et al., 2008).

Bone Health and Fractures

Rett syndrome is associated with compromised bone quality and fractures. A study of fracture incidence in 234 girls and young women with Rett syndrome in Australia found a rate of 43.3 episodes per 1000 person-years, which was nearly 4 times greater than the population rate (Downs et al., 2008). An earlier study of 101 girls with Rett syndrome in Australia based on hand radiographs found that their bone quality was compromised and fractures had occurred in one-third of cases, with it being estimated that just over 40% of girls would sustain a fracture by the age of 15 years (Leonard et al., 1999). A case control study in Denmark found that 61 females with Rett syndrome sustained significantly more low-energy fractures from an early age compared with controls, even though overall fracture occurrence was not apparently increased (Roende et al., 2011).

Summary

Rett syndrome almost exclusively affects females. Survival for those with Rett syndrome is lower than for those in the general population. Respiratory related conditions are the main cause of death. They are vulnerable to lower respiratory tract infections requiring hospitalization. Epilepsy is highly prevalent and may be uncontrolled. A high prevalence of epilepsy and scoliosis may increase vulnerability to respiratory infections. Autonomic nervous system dysregulation makes those with Rett syndrome vulnerable to sudden cardiac death. There may be subclinical myocardial dysfunction and unrecognised lung disease. Poor bone health and fractures are common among people with Rett syndrome.

- Anderson A., Wong K., Jacoby P., Downs J. & Leonard H. (2014) Twenty years of surveillance in Rett syndrome: what does this tell us? *Orphanet Journal Of Rare Diseases*, 9, 87-87.
- Cianfaglione R., Clarke A., Kerr M., Hastings R. P., Oliver C. & Felce D. (2015) A national survey of Rett syndrome: age, clinical characteristics, current abilities, and health. *American Journal Of Medical Genetics. Part A*, 167, 1493-1500.
- De Felice C., Guazzi G., Rossi M., Ciccoli L., Signorini C., Leoncini S., Tonni G., Latini G., Valacchi G. & Hayek J. (2010) Unrecognized lung disease in classic Rett syndrome: a physiologic and highresolution CT imaging study. *Chest*, **138**, 386-392.
- De Felice C., Maffei S., Signorini C., Leoncini S., Lunghetti S., Valacchi G., D'Esposito M., Filosa S., Della Ragione F., Butera G., Favilli R., Ciccoli L. & Hayek J. (2012) Subclinical myocardial dysfunction in Rett syndrome. *European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging*, 13, 339-345.
- Downs J., Bebbington A., Woodhead H., Jacoby P., Jian L., Jefferson A. & Leonard H. (2008) Early determinants of fractures in Rett syndrome. *Pediatrics*, 121, 540-546.
- Guideri F., Acampa M., Hayek G., Zappella M. & Di Perri T. (1999) Reduced heart rate variability in patients affected with Rett syndrome. A possible explanation for sudden death. *Neuropediatrics*, 30, 146-148.
- Guideri F., Acampa M., Matera M. R., Zappella M. & Hayek Y. (2004) Echocardiographic evaluation in Rett children with cardiac dysautonomia. *Journal of Pediatric Neurology*, 2, 145-148.
- Kumar A., Jaryal A., Gulati S., Chakrabarty B., Singh A., Deepak K. K., Pandey R. M., Gupta N., Sapra S., Kabra M. & Khajuria R. (2017) Cardiovascular Autonomic Dysfunction in Children and Adolescents With Rett Syndrome. *Pediatric Neurology*, 70, 61-66.
- Leonard H., Thomson M. R., Glasson E. J., Fyfe S., Leonard S., Bower C., Christodoulou J. & Ellaway C. (1999) A population-based approach to the investigation of osteopenia in Rett syndrome. *Developmental Medicine And Child Neurology*, 41, 323-328.
- MacKay J., Leonard H., Wong K., Wilson A. & Downs J. (2018) Respiratory morbidity in Rett syndrome: an observational study. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 60, 951-957.
- Nissenkorn A., Levy-Drummer R. S., Bondi O., Renieri A., Villard L., Mari F., Mencarelli M. A., Lo Rizzo C., Meloni I., Pineda M., Armstrong J., Clarke A., Bahi-Buisson N., Mejaski B. V., Djuric M., Craiu D., Djukic A., Pini G., Bisgaard A. M., Melegh B., Vignoli A., Russo S., Anghelescu C., Veneselli E., Hayek J. & Ben-Zeev B. (2015) Epilepsy in Rett syndrome--lessons from the Rett networked database. *Epilepsia*, 56, 569-576.
- Roende G., Ravn K., Fuglsang K., Andersen H., Vestergaard A., Brøndum-Nielsen K., Jensen J.-E. B. & Nielsen J. B. (2011) Patients with Rett syndrome sustain low-energy fractures. *Pediatric Research*, 69, 359-364.
- Rohdin M., Fernell E., Eriksson M., Albåge M., Lagercrantz H. & Katz-Salamon M. (2007) Disturbances in cardiorespiratory function during day and night in Rett syndrome. *Pediatric Neurology*, 37, 338-344.

- Sarajlija A., Kisic-Tepavcevic D., Nikolic Z., Savic Pavicevic D., Obradovic S., Djuric M. & Pekmezovic T. (2015) Epidemiology of Rett syndrome in Serbia: prevalence, incidence and survival. *Neuroepidemiology*, 44, 1-5.
- Strydom A., Curmi A. & McQuillin A. (2019) Physical Health and Clinical Phenotypes. In: Physical Health of Adults with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities. (Eds. V. Prasher & M. Janicki), pp. 71-86. Springer, Cham.
- Tarquinio D. C., Hou W., Neul J. L., Kaufmann W. E., Glaze D. G., Motil K. J., Skinner S. A., Lee H.-S. & Percy A. K. (2015) The Changing Face of Survival in Rett Syndrome and MECP2-Related Disorders. *Pediatric Neurology*, 53, 402-411.
- Weese-Mayer D. E., Lieske S. P., Boothby C. M., Kenny A. S., Bennett H. L. & Ramirez J.-M. (2008) Autonomic dysregulation in young girls with Rett Syndrome during nighttime in-home recordings. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 43, 1045-1060.
- Weese-Mayer D. E., Lieske S. P., Boothby C. M., Kenny A. S., Bennett H. L., Silvestri J. M. & Ramirez J. M. (2006) Autonomic nervous system dysregulation: breathing and heart rate perturbation during wakefulness in young girls with Rett syndrome. *Pediatric Research*, 60, 443-449.

Specific Syndromes: Fragile X Syndrome¹

Fragile X Syndrome (FXS) is the second most common cause of intellectual disability after Down syndrome and the most prevalent cause of intellectual disability in males, affecting 1:5000–7000 men and 1:4000–6000 women (Ciaccio et al., 2017). However, a systematic review and meta-analysis suggests lower estimated frequencies of individuals with the full mutation allele of approximately 1:7,000 for males and 1:11,000 for females (Hunter et al., 2014). It is the leading inherited cause of intellectual disability (Arvio, 2016).

As is typical of X-linked disorders, the most severe manifestations are seen among males with FXS (Arvio, 2016). Females tend to be less severely affected owing to compensation by a typical X chromosome, with not all females who carry a full mutation allele exhibiting intellectual disability (Hunter et al., 2014). A 20 year follow up of 34 males with FXS in Finland found that almost one third died during the follow-up period, many of them at a young age (Arvio, 2016). One study found that male children with fragile X syndrome had higher rates of obesity (31%) when compared with typically developing same-aged peers (18%) but this was not the case for females or adult males with FXS (Raspa et al., 2010).

Epilepsy is an important co-occurring condition with FXS, although prevalence is lower than for people with intellectual disabilities as a whole, with reports suggesting a prevalence of seizures among FXS children of 10–20% in boys and 5–10% in girls (Ciaccio et al., 2017). Females with FXS are less likely to have epilepsy than males with FXS (Leung and Ring, 2013). Most patients control their seizures with antiepileptic drugs (AEDs), with only 7% of a sample of males with FXS and epilepsy needing more than one AED (Musumeci et al., 1999).

Summary

Females with Fragile X syndrome tend to be less severely affected than males, for example they are less likely to have epilepsy. However, there is little specific evidence comparing the health and mortality of males and females with Fragile X syndrome.

- Arvio M. (2016) Fragile-X syndrome--a 20-year follow-up study of male patients. *Clinical Genetics*, 89, 55-59.
- Ciaccio C., Fontana L., Milani D., Tabano S., Miozzo M. & Esposito S. (2017) Fragile X syndrome: a review of clinical and molecular diagnoses. *Italian Journal Of Pediatrics*, 43, 39-39.
- Hunter J., Rivero-Arias O., Angelov A., Kim E., Fotheringham I. & Leal J. (2014) Epidemiology of fragile X syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal Of Medical Genetics*. *Part A*, 164A, 1648-1658.
- Leung H. T. T. & Ring H. (2013) Epilepsy in four genetically determined syndromes of intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 57, 3-20.
- Musumeci S. A., Hagerman R. J., Ferri R., Bosco P., Dalla Bernardina B., Tassinari C. A., De Sarro G. B. & Elia M. (1999) Epilepsy and EEG findings in males with fragile X syndrome. *Epilepsia*, 40, 1092-1099.
- Raspa M., Bailey D. B., Bishop E., Holiday D. & Olmsted M. (2010) Obesity, food selectivity, and physical activity in individuals with fragile X syndrome. *American Journal On Intellectual And Developmental Disabilities*, 115, 482-495.

Specific Syndromes: Prader Willi Syndrome¹

Prader Willi syndrome (PWS) is characterized by severe hypotonia and feeding problems in early infancy (Sinnema et al., 2011). In childhood and adolescence, this is followed by hyperphagia and, without strict dietary control, extreme obesity (Sinnema et al., 2011).

A study of people with Prader Willi Syndrome including 486 deaths found that males had a significantly higher risk of early mortality compared with females ($\chi^2 = 5.0$; P < 0.025; hazard ratio 1.2; 95% CI 1.0, 1.5), with a lower average age at death among males (28 ± 16 years) than among females (32 ± 15 years) (Butler et al., 2017). Cardiopulmonary and BMI-related mortality factors predominated among females, whereas males were more likely to experience accidents, choking, and infection at a young age. The disproportionate impact of accidental and/or hyperphagia-related deaths among younger males may possibly be due to increased activity and/or impulsive characteristics (Butler et al., 2017). In a related article, there was a gender specific increase in the risk of respiratory failure in females with PWS (females HR 2.0; 95% CI 1.4, 2.8; males HR 1.1; 95% CI 0.76, 1.5) and a gender specific increase in the risk of accidental death in males (males HR 2.2; 95% CI 1.2, 4.0 males; females HR 0.8; 95% CI 0.34, 1.8 females) (Manzardo et al., 2018). Prior to 2000 there was an increased risk of deaths in females due to cardiac failure (HR 1.8; 95% CI 1.3, 2.6), but not in deaths since 2000, which may be attributable to earlier diagnosis and proactive interventions to prevent morbid obesity (Manzardo et al., 2018).

A study of 180 children with Prader Willi Syndrome found that congenital heart defects were more frequent in girls (P = .030), with 7 cases among 87 girls (8%), and 1 case among 93 boys (1%) (Torrado et al., 2013). No difference by gender has been found in the general population. No suggestions are given in the article as to the reasons underlying this gender difference in children with Prader Willi syndrome. A study of 154 patients (68 men/86 women) with PWS in France found that gender differences in comorbidities were minor (data not presented) (Laurier et al., 2015).

A study of 155 people with PWS in Denmark found that the risk of venous thromboembolisms was higher for males compared to the general population (RR 19.7, 95% CI 5.7, 67.9) than females (RR 5.3, 95% CI 1.3, 21.8) (Hedgeman et al., 2017). There was no difference for myocardial infarction. However, the sample size is small and the results should be interpreted with caution.

Summary

Males with Prader Willi syndrome may be at higher risk of early mortality than females. Males may be more at risk of accidental death and choking. Cardiopulmonary and BMI-related mortality factors may predominate among females.

- Butler M. G., Manzardo A. M., Heinemann J., Loker C. & Loker J. (2017) Causes of death in Prader-Willi syndrome: Prader-Willi Syndrome Association (USA) 40-year mortality survey. *Genetics In Medicine*, 19, 635-642.
- Hedgeman E., Ulrichsen S. P., Carter S., Kreher N. C., Malobisky K. P., Braun M. M., Fryzek J. & Olsen
 M. S. (2017) Long-term health outcomes in patients with Prader-Willi Syndrome: a
 nationwide cohort study in Denmark. *International Journal Of Obesity (2005)*, 41, 1531-1538.
- Laurier V., Lapeyrade A., Copet P., Demeer G., Silvie M., Bieth E., Coupaye M., Poitou C., Lorenzini F., Labrousse F., Molinas C., Tauber M., Thuilleaux D. & Jauregi J. (2015) Medical, psychological and social features in a large cohort of adults with Prader-Willi syndrome: experience from a dedicated centre in France. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 59, 411-421.

- Manzardo A. M., Loker J., Heinemann J., Loker C. & Butler M. G. (2018) Survival trends from the Prader-Willi Syndrome Association (USA) 40-year mortality survey. *Genetics In Medicine*, 20, 24-30.
- Sinnema M., Maaskant M. A., van Schrojenstein Lantman-de Valk H. M. J., van Nieuwpoort I. C., Drent M. L., Curfs L. M. G. & Schrander-Stumpel C. T. R. M. (2011) Physical health problems in adults with Prader-Willi syndrome. *American Journal Of Medical Genetics. Part A*, 155A, 2112-2124.
- Torrado M., Foncuberta M. E., Perez M. F. d. C., Gravina L. P., Araoz H. V., Baialardo E. & Chertkoff L. P. (2013) Change in prevalence of congenital defects in children with Prader-Willi syndrome. *Pediatrics*, 131, e544-e549.

Gender Specific Health Conditions

Male Specific: Testicular Cancer

Risk of Death

The little available evidence suggests that men with intellectual disability may be at greater risk of death due to testicular cancer than men in the general population. One study gives the SMR for testicular cancer among men with Down syndrome as 12.5 (95% CI 1.5-45.1) (Sasco et al., 2008b) and a further study gives the SMR for testicular cancer among men with Down syndrome as 25.2 (95% CI 3.0-90.9) (Hill et al., 2003). However, both studies are based on only two observed deaths where the cause was testicular cancer. Recent analysis of NHS Hospital Episode Statistics for England suggests that men with intellectual disabilities are far more likely to die from testicular cancer than the general population, with a 1 in 10 chance of dying from the cancer, as opposed to a 1 in 36 chance in the general population (Afshar et al., 2017). Explanations given for this include the possibility that men with intellectual disabilities are not so good at self-examination, going to the doctor, and then following through with any treatment (Afshar et al., 2017). It could also be that difficulty obtaining consent from these patients affects the treatment they receive (Afshar et al., 2017). However, a further explanation may be that services are discriminatory.

Incidence or Prevalence

Considerably less attention has been drawn to the need for screening for sex-specific cancer in men with intellectual disabilities than has been the case for women (Hogg and Tuffrey-Wijne, 2008). Epidemiological studies suggest that men with intellectual disabilities may be at increased risk of testicular cancer compared to men in the general population (Sasco et al., 2008a). Down syndrome is undoubtedly associated with an increased risk of testicular cancer (Sasco et al., 2008a), with an excess of testicular germ cell tumours (TGCT) in individuals with Down syndrome and with some cases occurring very early in fetal life (Satgé et al., 1997). For example, a Finnish study found that the standardised incidence ratio (SIR) for testicular cancer among men with Down syndrome was 4.8 (95% CI 1.8, 10.4) (Patja et al., 2006). It has been suggested that an excess of luteinizing hormone and follicle-stimulating hormone gonadotropins and over-expression of the Ets-2 gene through gene dosage effect could predispose patients with Down syndrome to the development of TGCT (Satgé et al., 1997). Among men with Down syndrome testicular cancer is more often identified at a late stage (Sasco et al., 2008a).

Cryptorchidism (CO), or undescended testis (UDT), affects approximately 3% of all male live births, making it one of the most common congenital disorders (Banks et al., 2013). Despite a high rate of spontaneous resolution during the first year of life, CO is firmly established as the primary risk factor for subsequent development of testicular germ cell tumours (TCGT) (Banks et al., 2013). In males with Down syndrome there is an excess of undescended testis compared with the general population (Satgé et al., 1997). However, chromosome 21 gene expression might predispose to testicular cancer development independent of undescended testes (Hill et al., 2003). In a study of 102 people with PWS, it was found that for males, a history of cryptorchidism or absent testicles was almost universal (48 of 49 males) with 28 having undergone surgery (Sinnema et al., 2011). Early identification of UDT is important but late identification has been raised as an issue in relation to teenage boys with severe intellectual disabilities (Haire et al., 2015).

Testicular microlithiasis (TM) is a rare condition characterized by asymptomatic calcification of seminiferous tubules and is considered as a precursor of testicular germ cell tumours (Cebeci et al., 2015). Men with Down syndrome have a high prevalence of TM (Cebeci et al., 2015, Pedersen et al.,

2016) although a systematic review found that there seemed to be no relation between TM and development of testicular cancer in males with Down syndrome (Pedersen et al., 2016).

Summary

The little available evidence suggests that men with intellectual disability may be at greater risk of death due to testicular cancer than men in the general population. Men with intellectual disabilities may be at increased risk of having testicular cancer, particularly those with Down syndrome. Among men with Down syndrome testicular cancer is more often identified at a late stage. Men with intellectual disabilities who have testicular cancer are far more likely to die than men with testicular cancer in the general population.

- Afshar M., Jackson-Spence F., De Santis M., Tanner J. R., Evison F., James N., Selby P. & Patel P.
 (2017) 1085 Testicular cancer in patients with learning disabilities in England from 2001-2015: A national cohort study. *European Urology Supplements*, 16, e1893.
- Banks K., Tuazon E., Berhane K., Koh C. J., De Filippo R. E., Chang A., Kim S. S., Daneshmand S., Davis-Dao C., Lewinger J. P., Bernstein L. & Cortessis V. K. (2013) Cryptorchidism and testicular germ cell tumors: comprehensive meta-analysis reveals that association between these conditions diminished over time and is modified by clinical characteristics. *Frontiers in endocrinology*, 3, 182-182.
- Cebeci A. N., Aslanger A. & Ozdemir M. (2015) Should patients with Down syndrome be screened for testicular microlithiasis? *European Journal Of Pediatric Surgery*, 25, 177-180.
- Haire A. R., Flavill J., Groom W. D. & Dhandapani B. (2015) Unidentified undescended testes in teenage boys with severe learning disabilities. *Archives Of Disease In Childhood*, 100, 479-480.
- Hill D. A., Gridley G., Cnattingius S., Mellemkjaer L., Linet M., Adami H.-O., Olsen J. H., Nyren O. & Fraumeni J. F., Jr. (2003) Mortality and cancer incidence among individuals with Down syndrome. *Archives Of Internal Medicine*, 163, 705-711.
- Hogg J. & Tuffrey-Wijne I. (2008) Cancer and intellectual disability: a review of some key contextual issues. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 21, 509-518.
- Patja K., Pukkala E., Sund R., Iivanainen M. & Kaski M. (2006) Cancer incidence of persons with Down syndrome in Finland: a population-based study. *International Journal Of Cancer*, 118, 1769-1772.
- Pedersen M. R., Rafaelsen S. R., Møller H., Vedsted P. & Osther P. J. (2016) Testicular microlithiasis and testicular cancer: review of the literature. *International Urology and Nephrology*, 48, 1079-1086.
- Sasco A. J., Ah-Song R., Nishi M., Culine S., Réthorté M.-C. & Satgé D. (2008a) Testicular cancer and intellectual disability. *International Journal on Disability and Human Development*, **7**, 397-403.
- Sasco A. J., Day S. M., Voirin N., Strauss D. J., Shavelle R. M. & Satgé D. (2008b) Cancer mortality in Down syndrome in California. *International Journal on Disability and Human Development*, 7, 413-424.
- Satgé D., Sasco A. J., Curé H., Leduc B., Sommelet D. & Vekemans M. J. (1997) An excess of testicular germ cell tumors in Down's syndrome: three case reports and a review of the literature. *Cancer*, 80, 929-935.
- Sinnema M., Maaskant M. A., van Schrojenstein Lantman-de Valk H. M. J., van Nieuwpoort I. C., Drent M. L., Curfs L. M. G. & Schrander-Stumpel C. T. R. M. (2011) Physical health problems in adults with Prader-Willi syndrome. *American Journal Of Medical Genetics. Part A*, 155A, 2112-2124.

Male Specific: Prostate cancer

Risk of Death

We are not aware of any evidence on the risk of death due to prostate cancer among men with intellectual disabilities.

Incidence or Prevalence

The incidence of prostate cancer among men with intellectual disabilities appears to be lower than that of men in the general population. Based on 9,409 people with intellectual disabilities in Australia, the incidence of prostate cancer was lower in men with intellectual disabilities than in the general population (SIR 0.23, 95% CI 0.03, 0.82) (Sullivan et al., 2004). Based on 2,173 people with intellectual disabilities in Finland followed up between 1967 and 1997 there was a very low incidence of prostate cancer (SIR 0.2, 95% CI 0.0, 0.5) which the authors suggest may be related to a lack of screening and other types of diagnostic activity (Patja et al., 2001). For 3,581 people with Down syndrome in Finland followed up for a mean of 17.7 years, there were no observed cases of prostate cancer (two expected) which may be due to the lower life expectancy of people with Down syndrome and the fact that prostate cancer is a cancer of old age (Patja et al., 2006).

Summary

We are not aware of any evidence on the risk of death due to prostate cancer among men with intellectual disabilities. The small amount of evidence available suggests that the incidence of prostate cancer among men with intellectual disabilities may be lower than that of men in the general population. However, it is not clear to what extent this reflects a lack of screening among men with intellectual disabilities.

- Patja K., Eero P. & Iivanainen M. (2001) Cancer incidence among people with intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 45, 300-307.
- Patja K., Pukkala E., Sund R., Iivanainen M. & Kaski M. (2006) Cancer incidence of persons with Down syndrome in Finland: a population-based study. *International Journal Of Cancer*, 118, 1769-1772.
- Sullivan S. G., Hussain R., Threlfall T. & Bittles A. H. (2004) The incidence of cancer in people with intellectual disabilities. *Cancer Causes Control*, **15**, 1021-1025.

Female Specific: Breast Cancer

Risk of Death

Evidence from England suggests that death rates from breast cancer in women with intellectual disabilities do not differ from those in the general population (Glover et al., 2017). Data from Massachusetts (cited in Wilkinson et al 2011), whilst based on small sample sizes, suggests that although the rate of breast cancer among women with intellectual disabilities was similar to the general population, they seem to have higher mortality rates from breast cancer (30.9 per 100,000 women with intellectual disabilities vs 24.2 per 100,000 women in the general population of women in Massachusetts since 2002) (Wilkinson et al., 2011).

Incidence or Prevalence

The incidence of breast cancer among women with intellectual disabilities may be similar to that of the general population (Patja et al., 2001, Trétarre et al., 2017, Sullivan et al., 2004), although evidence is inconsistent with some reports of lower incidence among women with intellectual disabilities (Willis et al., 2008). However, women with intellectual disabilities are less likely to receive breast screening than other women (General Practice Extraction Service (GPES), 2016/17, Glover et al., 2014, Osborn et al., 2012, Cobigo et al., 2013, Lai et al., 2014, Sullivan et al., 2003, Wilkinson et al., 2011, Xu et al., 2017). The only study identified regarding breast cancer characteristics at diagnosis in women with intellectual disabilities was conducted in France (Satgé et al., 2014). Women with intellectual disabilities presented at an earlier age, with tumours of a higher American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) stage than controls despite no significant differences in tumour grade and histological type, which may be attributable to delayed diagnosis (Satgé et al., 2014).

The risk of breast cancer may be lower in women with Fragile X syndrome (Schultz-Pedersen et al., 2001) and Down syndrome (Martel-Billard et al., 2016, Chicoine et al., 2015). One study found that the SMR for breast cancer in women with Down syndrome was 0.6 (95% CI 0.1, 2.1) (Sasco et al., 2008). The risk of breast cancer may be higher in certain genetic conditions associated with intellectual disabilities. For example, for women with neurofibromatosis 1 in one area of England, the standardised incidence ratio (SIR) for breast cancer at age <50 years was 4.9 (95% CI 2.4, 8.8) suggesting they should be considered for mammography from 40 years of age (Sharif et al., 2007). A US study found that death from breast cancer was three times as common among women with cerebral palsy (mainly with intellectual disabilities) than the general population and it is suggested that diagnosis and/or treatment of the disease may be worse in this group than in the general population (Strauss et al., 1999). French data indicates that obesity was twice as frequent in women with intellectual disabilities with breast cancer compared to those without (42.9% vs. 18.7%) (Trétarre et al., 2017). Overall, further research is required regarding breast cancer risk and risk factors for women with intellectual disabilities.

For women with intellectual disabilities, knowledge of breast cancer including associated risks, preventative factors and signs and symptoms may be extremely limited (Truesdale-Kennedy et al., 2011). Women with intellectual disabilities may not easily communicate their symptoms and may be at risk of delayed diagnosis (Trétarre et al., 2017). Risk factors for breast cancer in women in the general population include: alcohol intake, smoking, low levels of physical exercise, overweight and obesity, not having children, and not having breastfed (Cancer Research UK). Whilst women with intellectual disabilities may be less likely to drink alcohol and smoke than women in the general

population, they are more likely to be overweight or obese, engage in low levels of physical activity (Emerson and Hatton, 2013) and to have not had children.

There is a lack of research or practice guidelines at every stage of the breast cancer care pathway for women with intellectual disabilities which may arguably lead to late diagnosis, suboptimal treatment and management and overall survival rates for this group (Collins et al., 2014). The optimal care of breast cancer relies on early diagnosis (Satgé et al., 2014). Participation in screening should be enhanced in women with intellectual disabilities as they may not easily communicate their symptoms and may be at risk of delayed diagnosis (Trétarre et al., 2017). Barriers to accessing breast screening included literacy problems, consent issues and physical health; practical barriers such as transport and timing of appointment; and barriers attributed to healthcare professionals, including staff attitude and lack of awareness and training (McIlfatrick et al., 2011). Other reported barriers include lack of information and embarrassment (Truesdale-Kennedy et al., 2011). Information and support related to breast cancer and mammography may not meet the needs of some people with intellectual disabilities (Truesdale-Kennedy et al., 2011). Paid-carers play a key role in terms of support, information and as a potential influence in determining participation in breast screening (Willis, 2016).

Summary

There is little evidence on the risk of death due to breast cancer among women with intellectual disabilities. Evidence on the incidence of breast cancer is inconsistent. Women with intellectual disabilities may be at risk of delayed diagnosis which can adversely affect outcomes. Risk factors for breast cancer are common among women with intellectual disabilities but they are less likely to be in receipt of breast screening. Women with Down syndrome and Fragile X syndrome are at lower risk of breast cancer than other women. Women with other genetic conditions associated with intellectual disabilities, including neurofibromatosis 1, may be at increased risk of breast cancer.

- Cancer Research UK Breast Cancer Statistics. Cancer Research UK <u>https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-cancer-type/breast-cancer</u> (accessed 11 July 2018).
- Chicoine B., Roth M., Chicoine L. & Sulo S. (2015) Breast cancer screening for women with Down syndrome: lessons learned. *Intellectual And Developmental Disabilities*, 53, 91-99.
- Cobigo V., Ouellette-Kuntz H., Balogh R., Leung F., Lin E. & Lunsky Y. (2013) Are cervical and breast cancer screening programmes equitable? The case of women with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 57, 478-488.
- Collins K., McClimens A., Mekonnen S. & Wyld L. (2014) Breast cancer information and support needs for women with intellectual disabilities: a scoping study. *Psycho-Oncology*, 23, 892-897.
- Emerson E. & Hatton C. (2013) *Health Inequalities and People with Intellectual Disabilities,* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- General Practice Extraction Service (GPES) (2016/17) Health and Care of People with Learning Disabilities: Experimental Statistics: 2016 to 2017. NHS Digital, Available online: <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/health-and-care-of-people-with-learning-disabilities/health-and-care-of-people-with-learning-disabilitiesexperimental-statistics-2016-to-2017 (accessed 15 May 2018).</u>

- Glover G., Christie A. & Hatton C. (2014) Access to cancer screening by people with learning disabilities in England 2012/13: information from the Joint Health and Social Care Assessment Framework. *Tizard Learning Disability Review*, 19, 194-198.
- Glover G., Williams R., Heslop P., Oyinlola J. & Grey J. (2017) Mortality in people with intellectual disabilities in England. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 61, 62-74.
- Lai H.-T., Kung P.-T. & Tsai W.-C. (2014) Factors influencing the mammography utilization among Taiwanese women with intellectual disabilities, a nationwide population-based study. *Research In Developmental Disabilities,* 35, 3372-3378.
- Martel-Billard C., Cordier C., Tomasetto C., Jegu J. & Mathelin C. (2016) Trisomy 21 and breast cancer: A genetic abnormality which protects against breast cancer? *Gynecol Obstet Fertil*, 44, 211-217.
- McIlfatrick S., Taggart L. & Truesdale-Kennedy M. (2011) Supporting women with intellectual disabilities to access breast cancer screening: a healthcare professional perspective. *European Journal of Cancer Care,* 20, 412-420.
- Osborn D. P., Horsfall L., Hassiotis A., Petersen I., Walters K. & Nazareth I. (2012) Access to cancer screening in people with learning disabilities in the UK: cohort study in the health improvement network, a primary care research database. *PLoS One*, 7, e43841.
- Patja K., Eero P. & Iivanainen M. (2001) Cancer incidence among people with intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 45, 300-307.
- Sasco A. J., Day S. M., Voirin N., Strauss D. J., Shavelle R. M. & Satgé D. (2008) Cancer mortality in Down syndrome in California. *International Journal on Disability and Human Development*, 7, 413-424.
- Satgé D., Sauleau E.-A., Jacot W., Raffi F., Azéma B., Bouyat J.-C. & El Hage Assaf N. (2014) Age and stage at diagnosis: a hospital series of 11 women with intellectual disability and breast carcinoma. *BMC Cancer*, 14, 1-6.
- Schultz-Pedersen S., Hasle H., Olsen J. H. & Friedrich U. (2001) Evidence of decreased risk of cancer in individuals with fragile X. *American Journal Of Medical Genetics*, 103, 226-230.
- Sharif S., Moran A., Huson S., Iddenden R., Shenton A., Howard E. & Evans G. (2007) Women with Neurofibromatosis 1 (NF1) are at a moderately increased risk of developing breast cancer and should be considered for early screening. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, 44, 481-484.
- Strauss D., Cable W. & Shavelle R. (1999) Causes of excess mortality in cerebral palsy. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 41, 580-585.
- Sullivan S. G., Glasson E. J., Hussain R., Petterson B. A., Slack-Smith L. M., Montgomery P. D. & Bittles A. H. (2003) Breast cancer and the uptake of mammography screening services by women with intellectual disabilities. *Preventive Medicine*, 37, 507-512.
- Sullivan S. G., Hussain R., Threlfall T. & Bittles A. H. (2004) The incidence of cancer in people with intellectual disabilities. *Cancer Causes Control*, **15**, 1021-1025.
- Trétarre B., Bourgarel S., Stoebner-Delbarre A., Jacot W., Bessaoud F. & Satge D. (2017) Breast cancer and screening in persons with an intellectual disability living in institutions in France. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 61, 266-278.
- Truesdale-Kennedy M., Taggart L. & McIlfatrick S. (2011) Breast cancer knowledge among women with intellectual disabilities and their experiences of receiving breast mammography. *Journal Of Advanced Nursing*, 67, 1294-1304.
- Wilkinson J. E., Lauer E., Freund K. M. & Rosen A. K. (2011) Determinants of mammography in women with intellectual disabilities. *Journal Of The American Board Of Family Medicine*, 24, 693-703.
- Willis D. S. (2016) What influences women with intellectual disabilities to attend breast screening? Experiences of women who have and have not participated. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 44, 269-276.

- Willis D. S., Kennedy C. M. & Kilbride L. (2008) Breast cancer screening in women with learning disabilities: Current knowledge and considerations. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 36, 171-184.
- Xu X., McDermott S. W., Mann J. R., Hardin J. W., Deroche C. B., Carroll D. D. & Courtney-Long E. A. (2017) A longitudinal assessment of adherence to breast and cervical cancer screening recommendations among women with and without intellectual disability. *Preventive Medicine*, 100, 167-172.

Female Specific: Cervical Cancer

Risk of Death

We are not aware of any evidence on the risk of death from cervical cancer among women with intellectual disabilities.

Incidence or Prevalence

Very little is known about the prevalence of cervical cancer in women with intellectual disabilities. The available evidence suggests that the prevalence of cervical cancer is lower in women with intellectual disabilities than other women (Sullivan et al., 2004, Patja et al., 2001, Sullivan et al., 2010, Parish et al., 2018). However, whilst lower, the risk of cervical cancer is not negligible (Wood and Douglas, 2007) and cervical cancer can be a cause of avoidable death in women with intellectual disabilities (Sullivan et al., 2010). Evidence from a number of countries consistently indicates that women with intellectual disabilities are less likely to receive a cervical screening test than other women (Reynolds et al., 2008, General Practice Extraction Service (GPES), 2016/17, Glover et al., 2014, Sally-Ann et al., 2018, Osborn et al., 2012, Cobigo et al., 2013, Huang et al., 2012, Parish et al., 2013, Sullivan et al., 2010, Xu et al., 2017) and more likely to be ceased from screening (not receive invitations for screening) than other women (Reynolds et al., 2008). Girls with intellectual disabilities may be less likely to receive the human papilloma virus (HPV) vaccine (MacLeod and Tuffrey, 2014). Some women with intellectual disabilities have been denied access to cervical screening on the basis of their assumed lack of sexual activity (Heslop et al., 2013). Even among women who have had a pregnancy, and are therefore known to have been sexually active, women with intellectual and developmental disabilities are less likely to be screened than other women (Brown et al., 2016).

Summary

We are not aware of any evidence on the risk of death from cervical cancer among women with intellectual disabilities. The prevalence of cervical cancer is lower in women with intellectual disabilities than other women but the risk is not negligible. Women with intellectual disabilities are less likely to receive a cervical screening test than other women, sometimes on the basis of their assumed lack of sexual activity.

- Brown H. K., Plourde N., Ouellette-Kuntz H., Vigod S. & Cobigo V. (2016) Brief report: cervical cancer screening in women with intellectual and developmental disabilities who have had a pregnancy. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 60, 22-27.
- Cobigo V., Ouellette-Kuntz H., Balogh R., Leung F., Lin E. & Lunsky Y. (2013) Are cervical and breast cancer screening programmes equitable? The case of women with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 57, 478-488.
- General Practice Extraction Service (GPES) (2016/17) Health and Care of People with Learning Disabilities: Experimental Statistics: 2016 to 2017. NHS Digital, Available online: <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/health-and-care-of-people-with-learning-disabilities/health-and-care-of-people-with-learning-disabilitiesexperimental-statistics-2016-to-2017 (accessed 15 May 2018).</u>
- Glover G., Christie A. & Hatton C. (2014) Access to cancer screening by people with learning disabilities in England 2012/13: information from the Joint Health and Social Care Assessment Framework. *Tizard Learning Disability Review*, 19, 194-198.

- Heslop P., Blair P., Fleming P., Hoghton M., Marriott A. & Russ L. (2013) Confidential Inquiry into premature deaths of people with learning disabilities (CIPOLD). Final report. Norah Fry Research Centre, Bristol.
- Huang K.-H., Tsai W.-C. & Kung P.-T. (2012) The use of Pap smear and its influencing factors among women with disabilities in Taiwan. *Research In Developmental Disabilities*, 33, 307-314.
- MacLeod R. & Tuffrey C. (2014) Immunisation against HPV in girls with intellectual disabilities. *Archives of Disease in Childhood,* 99, 1068-1070.
- Osborn D. P., Horsfall L., Hassiotis A., Petersen I., Walters K. & Nazareth I. (2012) Access to cancer screening in people with learning disabilities in the UK: cohort study in the health improvement network, a primary care research database. *PLoS One*, **7**, e43841.
- Parish S. L., Son E., Powell R. M. & Igdalsky L. (2018) Reproductive Cancer Treatment Hospitalizations of U.S. Women With Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 56, 1-12.
- Parish S. L., Swaine J. G., Son E. & Luken K. (2013) Determinants of cervical cancer screening among women with intellectual disabilities: evidence from medical records. *Public Health Reports*, 128, 519-526.
- Patja K., Eero P. & Iivanainen M. (2001) Cancer incidence among people with intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 45, 300-307.
- Reynolds F., Stanistreet D. & Elton P. (2008) Women with learning disabilities and access to cervical screening: retrospective cohort study using case control methods. *BMC Public Health*, 8, 30.
- Sally-Ann C., Laura H. M., Nicola G., Alex M., Linda A., Marion B., Laura M., Angela H., Craig M., Paula M. & Jill M. (2018) Management and prevalence of long-term conditions in primary health care for adults with intellectual disabilities compared with the general population: A population-based cohort study. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 31, 68-81.
- Sullivan S. G., Hussain R., Threlfall T. & Bittles A. H. (2004) The incidence of cancer in people with intellectual disabilities. *Cancer Causes Control*, **15**, 1021-1025.
- Sullivan S. G., Satgé D. & Willis D. S. (2010) Cervical cancer surveillance in women with learning disabilities. *International Journal of Child Health & Human Development*, **3**, 157-163.
- Wood R. & Douglas M. (2007) Cervical screening for women with learning disability: current practice and attitudes within primary care in Edinburgh. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 35, 84-92.
- Xu X., McDermott S. W., Mann J. R., Hardin J. W., Deroche C. B., Carroll D. D. & Courtney-Long E. A. (2017) A longitudinal assessment of adherence to breast and cervical cancer screening recommendations among women with and without intellectual disability. *Preventive Medicine*, 100, 167-172.

Female Specific: Ovaries and Uteri Cancer *Risk of Death*

One study reports the risk of death due to cancer of the ovaries and uteri among women with intellectual disabilities on GP registers in England (which may miss those with mild to moderate intellectual disability and no associated syndromic cause). Malignant neoplasms of female genital organs accounted for nine deaths (expected 4.0, SMR 2.3, 95% CI 1.0, 4.3), almost equally divided between cancers of the uterine body, where this represented a statistically significantly high number, and of the ovary, where it did not (Glover et al., 2017).

Incidence or Prevalence

Evidence regarding the incidence of cancer of the ovaries and uteri among women with intellectual disabilities is mixed. Based on 9,409 people with intellectual disabilities in Australia, females had a significantly higher incidence of cancer of the corpus uteri than women in the general population (SIR 2.98, 95% CI 1.29, 5.87) (Sullivan et al., 2004). Based on 2,173 people with intellectual disabilities in Finland followed up between 1967 and 1997 the incidence of cancers of the uterine trunk and ovaries did not differ significantly from women in the general population (Patja et al., 2001). For people with Down syndrome in Israel between 1948 and 1995, a non-significant excess of cancer of the ovaries in females was found (Boker et al., 2001). However, a study of people with Down syndrome found no cases of death due to cancer of the ovary and other uterine adnexia (SMR 0.0, 95% CI 0.0, 4.7) (Sasco et al., 2008).

Summary

There is very little evidence on the risk of death due to cancer of the ovaries and uteri among women with intellectual disabilities. Evidence regarding the incidence of cancer of the ovaries and uteri is mixed, with some evidence suggesting that incidence may be higher among women with intellectual disabilities than women in the general population, but other evidence indicating no difference.

- Boker L. K., Blumstein T., Sadetzki S., Luxenburg O., Litvak I., Akstein E. & Modan B. (2001) Incidence of leukemia and other cancers in Down syndrome subjects in Israel. *International Journal Of Cancer*, 93, 741-744.
- Glover G., Williams R., Heslop P., Oyinlola J. & Grey J. (2017) Mortality in people with intellectual disabilities in England. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 61, 62-74.
- Patja K., Eero P. & Iivanainen M. (2001) Cancer incidence among people with intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 45, 300-307.
- Sasco A. J., Day S. M., Voirin N., Strauss D. J., Shavelle R. M. & Satgé D. (2008) Cancer mortality in Down syndrome in California. *International Journal on Disability and Human Development*, 7, 413-424.
- Sullivan S. G., Hussain R., Threlfall T. & Bittles A. H. (2004) The incidence of cancer in people with intellectual disabilities. *Cancer Causes Control*, **15**, 1021-1025.

Female Specific: Contraception¹

Whilst not a specific cause of death, some forms of contraception may increase the risk of other health conditions. For example, Depo-Provera[®] reduces bone mineral density and causes weight gain (Jeffery et al., 2013).

Women with intellectual disabilities have markedly different patterns of contraceptive use to women in the general population with greater use of long term methods such as depot injection, oral contraceptive, intrauterine device or sterilisation and significantly less use of barrier methods (McCarthy, 2009b, Servais, 2006). A small scale survey found the most widely used form of contraception was a contraceptive implant (46%), followed by the combined (oestrogen and progesterone) contraceptive pill (24%) and the progesterone only contraceptive pill (7%) (Ledger et al., 2016). For those with severe or profound intellectual disabilities contraception was prescribed at an earlier age (38% prior to age 16 compared to 7% of those with mild or moderate intellectual disabilities), with management of menstruation being the most common reason for the introduction of contraception (50%) compared to 13% amongst women with mild or moderate levels of intellectual disability (Ledger et al., 2016).

Women with intellectual disabilities may be prescribed contraception even when they are not sexually active or are past child bearing age (McCarthy, 2009b). A study of nine UK women with intellectual disabilities who had been sterilized for contraceptive purposes found that none were reported to have been sexually active during a 20 year follow up period (Roy, 2010). Contraceptives may be prescribed to women with intellectual disabilities who are not sexually active 'just in case' or to manage menstruation (Ledger et al., 2016). GPs may prescribe depot medroxyprogesterone acetate (DMPA or Depo-Provera®) due to concerns that women with intellectual disabilities may not be reliable users of methods which rely on the user such as the pill (McCarthy, 2011). For those with severe or profound intellectual disabilities management of menstruation was the most common reason for the introduction of contraception (Ledger et al., 2016). An older study in Finland found that of 255 women with intellectual disabilities, 67.5% had at least once in their life received lynestrenol for therapeutic amenorrhea (Huovinen, 1993). No long term strategies exist to completely suppress menstruation without the possibility of adverse consequences (Albanese and Hopper, 2007). For example, Depo-Provera® reduces bone mineral density and causes weight gain (Jeffery et al., 2013). This may be a particular concern in relation to bone mineral density when Depo-Provera[®] is prescribed at a young age (McCarthy, 2011). Evidence suggests that women with intellectual disabilities are not given sufficient information and are not fully involved in decisions about contraception (McCarthy, 2009b, McCarthy, 2010, McCarthy, 2009a, Ledger et al., 2016), with the decision to take contraception being made for them (Ledger et al., 2016).

Summary

Women with intellectual disabilities have different patterns of contraceptive use to women in the general population, with greater use of long-acting contraception such as contraceptive implants or injections. There is a disproportionate use of Depo-Provera[®] among women with intellectual disabilities which may reduce bone mineral density and cause weight gain. Women with intellectual disabilities may be prescribed contraception when they are not sexually active 'just in case' or to manage menstruation.

- Albanese A. & Hopper N. W. (2007) Suppression of menstruation in adolescents with severe learning disabilities. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 92, 629-632.
- Huovinen K. J. (1993) Gynecological problems of mentally retarded women. A case-control study from southern Finland. *Acta Obstetricia Et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, 72, 475-480.
- Jeffery E., Kayani S. & Garden A. (2013) Management of menstrual problems in adolescents with learning and physical disabilities. *The Obstetrician & Gynaecologist*, 15, 106-112.
- Ledger S., Earle S., Tilley E. & Walmsley J. (2016) Contraceptive decision-making and women with learning disabilities. *Sexualities*, 19, 698-724.
- McCarthy M. (2009a) Contraception and women with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities,* 22, 363-369.
- McCarthy M. (2009b) 'I have the jab so I can't be blamed for getting pregnant': Contraception and women with learning disabilities. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 32, 198-208.
- McCarthy M. (2010) Exercising choice and control women with learning disabilities and contraception. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 38, 293-302.
- McCarthy M. (2011) Prescribing Contraception to Women with Intellectual Disabilities: General Practitioners' Attitudes and Practices. *Sexuality and Disability*, 29, 339-349.
- Roy M. (2010) A case note follow-up of women with intellectual disability referred for sterilization. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*, 14, 43-52.
- Servais L. (2006) Sexual health care in persons with intellectual disabilities. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 12, 48-56.

Female Specific: Pregnancy and Childbirth¹

There has been increased recognition of the rights of people with intellectual disabilities to 'an ordinary life', including the right to be parents, with people with intellectual disabilities becoming more likely to develop relationships and form their own families (Working Together with Parents Network, 2008). As such, pregnancy and childbirth is an issue for women with intellectual disabilities. Indeed, a large study of fertility in women with intellectual and developmental disabilities in Canada found that age specific fertility rates were similar in young women with and without intellectual and developmental disabilities (Brown et al., 2016b).

Risk of Death

We are not aware of any evidence on the risk of death in relation to pregnancy and childbirth for women with intellectual disabilities.

Incidence or Prevalence

Women with intellectual disabilities experience poorer maternal wellbeing and pregnancy outcomes compared to the general population (Homeyard et al., 2016). Studies have reported poorer outcomes for women with intellectual disabilities including: increased rates of pre-eclampsia, venous thromboembolism, pre-term birth, delivery by caesarean section, low birth weight, and low Apgar scores (McConnell et al., 2008, Parish et al., 2015, Brown et al., 2017a, Brown et al., 2016a, Mitra et al., 2015, Höglund et al., 2012, Akobirshoev et al., 2017). Smaller scale research in England found no difference between women with and without intellectual disabilities for pre-eclampsia, caesareans or Apgar scores (Goldacre et al., 2015).

Data also suggest that women with intellectual disabilities have higher rates of postpartum hospital admissions and emergency department visits. A population based study in Canada on postpartum acute care utilization included 3,803 singleton live births to women with intellectual and developmental disabilities and 378,313 births to other women in Ontario (Brown et al., 2017b). Women with intellectual and developmental disabilities, compared to women without, had increased risk for postpartum emergency department visits for medical reasons (0-42 days postpartum) (15.8% vs. 7.8%; 41.9 vs. 19.5 visits per 10,000 person-days, adjusted Hazards Ratio (aHR) 1.80, 95% CI 1.66, 1.96). The most common reasons were puerperal infection/sepsis, abdominal/pelvic pain, and postpartum haemorrhage. A subsequent study looking at the first postpartum year among women with and without intellectual and developmental disabilities in the United States included 1,104 deliveries to mothers with intellectual and developmental disabilities and 778,409 deliveries to mothers without intellectual and developmental disabilities (Mitra et al., 2018). Women with intellectual and developmental disabilities had markedly higher rates of postpartum hospital admissions and emergency department visits during the critical postpartum periods after a childbirth (within 1–42, 43–90, and 91–365 days). These findings were robust and persisted even after controlling for many social, demographic, and clinical characteristics.

Perinatal mortality has been found to be higher in babies born to women with intellectual and developmental disabilities in the US (Mitra et al., 2015), with the odds ratio for stillbirth in one US study being 2.40 (95% CI 1.70, 3.40) (Akobirshoev et al., 2017). In one UK study combining stillbirths and infant deaths, rates per 1000 were 27.9 for babies of mothers with intellectual disabilities and 13.4 for other babies (borderline significant at p = 0.07), but larger UK studies are needed to determine whether stillbirth and infant death rates are higher (Goldacre et al., 2015).

Pregnant women with intellectual disabilities are less likely to seek or attend regular antenatal care (Homeyard et al., 2016), and struggle to understand antenatal information communicated during

pregnancy which is often text based (Homeyard et al., 2016). In one small scale study in the UK, no women with intellectual disabilities had been given easy-read pregnancy and birth information by maternity practitioners (although some had received this from other sources) (Malouf et al., 2017). Mothers with intellectual disabilities in the United Kingdom had less positive perceptions of their maternity care than nondisabled women, for example fewer felt that they were always spoken to in a way they could understand (66% vs. 84%) (Redshaw et al., 2013). Midwives may lack training in relation to supporting women with intellectual disabilities, and time constraints may mean that they are unable to spend the necessary time with the women to meet their pregnancy needs (Castell and Stenfert Kroese, 2016). Finally, for women with intellectual disabilities a safeguarding process (child protection) may be an inevitable part of their pregnancy experience (Castell and Stenfert Kroese, 2016).

Summary

We are not aware of any evidence on the risk of death in relation to pregnancy and childbirth among women with intellectual disabilities. Women with intellectual disabilities experience poorer maternal wellbeing and pregnancy outcomes compared to the general population. This includes increased rates of pre-eclampsia, venous thromboembolism, pre-term birth, delivery by caesarean section, and higher rates of postpartum hospital admissions and emergency department visits. Services may not offer appropriate support to meet the needs of pregnant women with intellectual disabilities.

- Akobirshoev I., Parish S. L., Mitra M. & Rosenthal E. (2017) Birth outcomes among US women with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Disability And Health Journal*, 10, 406-412.
- Brown H., Cobigo V., Lunsky Y. & Vigod S. (2017a) Maternal and offspring outcomes in women with intellectual and developmental disabilities: a population-based cohort study. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 124, 757-765.
- Brown H. K., Cobigo V., Lunsky Y. & Vigod S. (2017b) Postpartum Acute Care Utilization Among Women with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities. *Journal Of Women's Health*, 26, 329-337.
- Brown H. K., Kirkham Y. A., Cobigo V., Lunsky Y. & Vigod S. N. (2016a) Labour and delivery interventions in women with intellectual and developmental disabilities: a population-based cohort study. *Journal Of Epidemiology And Community Health*, 70, 238-244.
- Brown H. K., Lunsky Y., Wilton A. S., Cobigo V. & Vigod S. N. (2016b) Pregnancy in Women With Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities. *Journal Of Obstetrics And Gynaecology Canada*, 38, 9-16.
- Castell E. & Stenfert Kroese B. (2016) Midwives' experiences of caring for women with learning disabilities A qualitative study. *Midwifery*, 36, 35-42.
- Goldacre A. D., Gray R. & Goldacre M. J. (2015) Childbirth in women with intellectual disability: characteristics of their pregnancies and outcomes in an archived epidemiological dataset. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 59, 653-663.
- Höglund B., Lindgren P. & Larsson M. (2012) Pregnancy and birth outcomes of women with intellectual disability in Sweden: a national register study. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, 91, 1381-1387.
- Homeyard C., Montgomery E., Chinn D. & Patelarou E. (2016) Current evidence on antenatal care provision for women with intellectual disabilities: A systematic review. *Midwifery*, 32, 45-57.
- Malouf R., McLeish J., Ryan S., Gray R. & Redshaw M. (2017) 'We both just wanted to be normal parents': a qualitative study of the experience of maternity care for women with learning disability. *BMJ Open*, 7: e015526.

- McConnell D., Mayes R. & Llewellyn G. (2008) Women with intellectual disability at risk of adverse pregnancy and birth outcomes. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 52, 529-535.
- Mitra M., Parish S. L., Akobirshoev I., Rosenthal E. & Moore Simas T. A. (2018) Postpartum Hospital Utilization among Massachusetts Women with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities: A Retrospective Cohort Study. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 22, 1492-1501.
- Mitra M., Parish S. L., Clements K. M., Cui X. & Diop H. (2015) Pregnancy outcomes among women with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 48, 300-308.
- Parish S. L., Mitra M., Son E., Bonardi A., Swoboda P. T. & Igdalsky L. (2015) Pregnancy Outcomes Among U.S. Women With Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities. *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 120, 433-443.
- Redshaw M., Malouf R., Gao H. & Gray R. (2013) Women with disability: the experience of maternity care during pregnancy, labour and birth and the postnatal period. *BMC Pregnancy & Childbirth*, 13, 1-14.
- Working Together with Parents Network (2008) Facts and figures about parents with learning disabilities in England. Working Together with Parents Network. Available online at <u>http://www.bristol.ac.uk/sps/media/WTWPN_documents/facts-pwld.pdf</u> (accessed 18 July 2018), University of Bristol.

Female Specific: Menopause¹

Whist not a direct cause of death, menopause is associated with increased health risks, for example cardiovascular disease greatly increases after the menopause when estrogen levels reduce (Newson, 2018). The long-term consequences of premature or early menopause include adverse effects on, cardiovascular and bone health, as well as an increased risk of early mortality (Faubion et al., 2015). What little evidence there is suggests that women with intellectual disabilities, and in particular women with Down syndrome, tend to have earlier menopause than other women (Schupf et al., 1997, Carr and Hollins, 1995). Studies are consistent in showing that early age at menopause and low levels of endogenous bioavailable estradiol in postmenopausal women with Down syndrome are associated with earlier age at onset and overall risk for dementia (Schupf et al., 2018). For example, for women with Down syndrome early age at menopause has been found to be associated with an increased risk of dementia (Hazard Ratio (HR) 1.82 (95% CI 1.31, 2.52) (Coppus et al., 2010). Early menopause has also been associated with risk of death (HR 2.05 (95% CI 1.33, 3.16) in women with Down syndrome (Coppus et al., 2010).

Summary

Women with intellectual disabilities, and in particular women with Down syndrome, tend to have earlier menopause than other women. In women with Down syndrome, early age at menopause has been found to be associated with an increased risk of dementia and with risk of death.

- Carr J. & Hollins S. (1995) Menopause in women with learning disabilities. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 39, 137-139.
- Coppus A. M. W., Evenhuis H. M., Verberne G. J., Visser F. E., Eikelenboom P., Van Gool W. A., Janssens A. C. J. W. & Van Duijn C. M. (2010) Early age at menopause is associated with increased risk of dementia and mortality in women with down syndrome. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, **19**, 545-550.
- Faubion S. S., Kuhle C. L., Shuster L. T. & Rocca W. A. (2015) Long-term health consequences of premature or early menopause and considerations for management. *Climacteric*, 18, 483-491.
- Newson L. (2018) Menopause and cardiovascular disease. Post Reproductive Health, 24, 44-49.
- Schupf N., Lee J. H., Pang D., Zigman W. B., Tycko B., Krinsky-McHale S. & Silverman W. (2018) Epidemiology of estrogen and dementia in women with Down syndrome. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 114, 62-68.
- Schupf N., Zigman W., Kapell D., Lee J. H., Kline J. & Levin B. (1997) Early menopause in women with Down's syndrome. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 41, 264-267.

Risk Factors for Mortality¹

Risk Factors: Overweight and Obesity¹

Both overweight and obesity are associated with the incidence of multiple co-morbidities including type II diabetes, cancer and cardiovascular diseases (Guh et al., 2009). Female gender has been found to be the strongest risk factor for overweight/obesity status in individuals with intellectual disabilities (Ranjan et al., 2018). Studies have consistently shown that the prevalence of obesity and morbid obesity among women with intellectual disabilities is significantly higher than among women without intellectual disabilities (Ranjan et al., 2018). For example, a study of 1,450 people with intellectual disabilities in the US found that morbid obesity (BMI \geq 40) was twice as common among women with intellectual disabilities than among women in the general population (10.9% vs. 5.4%), but it was similar for men (4.5% vs. 3%) (Hsieh et al., 2014). There was a significantly higher prevalence of obesity among women (43.2%) with intellectual disabilities compared with men with intellectual disabilities (34.3%) (Hsieh et al., 2014), with figures for both men and women being higher than for the general population (general population women 27.7%, men 28.3%).

A study in Stockholm included people with intellectual disability excluding Down syndrome (n = 11,785); Down syndrome (n = 1,282) and a general population comparison group (n = 1,996,140) (Wallén et al., 2018). Both women (13.6%) and men (8.7%) with intellectual disabilities but without Down syndrome were more likely to be obese than the general population (women OR 3.048 (95% CI 2.805, 3.312), men OR 3.409 (95% CI 3.131, 3.712) (Wallén et al., 2018). This was also the case for women (14.4%) and men (8.1%) with Down syndrome (women OR 3.299 (95% CI 2.618, 4.156), men OR 2.998 (95% CI 2.273, 3.956) (Wallén et al., 2018).

Summary

Female gender has been found to be the strongest risk factor for overweight/obesity status in individuals with intellectual disabilities. The prevalence of obesity and morbid obesity among women with intellectual disabilities is significantly higher than among women without intellectual disabilities.

- Guh D. P., Zhang W., Bansback N., Amarsi Z., Birmingham C. L. & Anis A. H. (2009) The incidence of co-morbidities related to obesity and overweight: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health*, 9, 88.
- Hsieh K., Rimmer J. H. & Heller T. (2014) Obesity and associated factors in adults with intellectual disability. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 58, 851-863.
- Ranjan S., Nasser J. A. & Fisher K. (2018) Prevalence and potential factors associated with overweight and obesity status in adults with intellectual developmental disorders. *Journal Of Applied Research In Intellectual Disabilities*, 31 Suppl 1, 29-38.
- Wallén F. E., Ljunggren G., Carlsson A. C., Pettersson D. & Wändell P. (2018) High prevalence of diabetes mellitus, hypertension and obesity among persons with a recorded diagnosis of intellectual disability or autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 62, 269-280.

Risk Factors: Hypertension¹

Hypertension is a risk factor for CVD (Axmon et al., 2017). There is a well-established gender difference in the prevalence of hypertension in the general population such that men have a higher prevalence of hypertension compared with women prior to the onset of menopause, after which women display a more rapid increase in the prevalence of hypertension relative to men such that hypertension rates in women eventually exceed those seen in men (Ramirez and Sullivan, 2018), with males having a higher incidence of hypertension compared to females of the same age until the sixth decade of life (Gillis and Sullivan, 2016).

For nearly 8,000 people with intellectual disabilities aged 55+ in Sweden, both men and women with intellectual disabilities were less likely to have a diagnosis of hypertension than people in the general population (for men and women combined RR 0.55 (95% CI 0.50–0.60) (Axmon et al., 2017). People with intellectual disabilities may be underdiagnosed with respect to hypertension. However, the study did not include primary care diagnoses, only diagnoses made during inpatient care and at outpatient specialist visits.

A study in Stockholm included people with intellectual disability excluding Down syndrome (n = 11,785); Down syndrome (n = 1,282) and a general population comparison group (n = 1,996,140) (Wallén et al., 2018). Both men (OR 0.181 (95% CI 0.102–0.318)) and women (OR 0.256 (95% CI 0.152, 0.432)) with Down syndrome were less likely to have hypertension than the general population. For those with intellectual disabilities but not Down syndrome there was no difference in hypertension for women but an increased risk for men (OR 1.215 (95% CI 1.099, 1.344)) (Wallén et al., 2018).

Among 685 people aged 50-70 with intellectual disabilities receiving formal care or support in the Netherlands, hypertension (ascertained via testing rather than recorded diagnoses) was less common among men with intellectual disabilities than men in the general population (men with intellectual disabilities 45.4% (95% CI 40.3, 50.5) vs 55.1% (95% CI 52.1, 58.0)). However, hypertension was more common among women with intellectual disabilities than among women in the general population (women with intellectual disabilities 53.9% (95% CI 48.5, 59.4) vs 44.0% (95% CI 41.1, 46.8)) (de Winter et al., 2012). It should be noted that hypertension may be underdiagnosed. In this study, 385 people with intellectual disabilities met criteria for hypertension, of whom 191 (50%) had not been previously diagnosed with hypertension (de Winter et al., 2012).

A study on multimorbidity in 753 persons with intellectual disabilities aged 40 years and over in Ireland found that women were almost two times more likely to be multimorbid than males, regardless of age, and to have higher levels of reported hypertension diagnoses, although figures relating to hypertension are not presented (McCarron et al., 2013). A study of 213 people with intellectual disabilities in the Netherlands, which measured blood pressure, found no association between hypertension and gender (van de Louw et al., 2009). However, the sample size was small and confidence intervals were wide (male hypertension prevalence 15.0% (95% CI 8.45, 21.64), female 20.0% (95% CI 12.16, 27.84)) (van de Louw et al., 2009). Of 291 adults with intellectual disabilities living in New York City, based on data from a review of medical records, females were less likely to have hypertension than males (adjusted Odd Ratio 0.61 (95% CI 0.32, 1.15)) (Sohler et al., 2009). A study of 811 people with intellectual disabilities in Hong Kong found that rates of hypertension were similar for men and women (men 6.9%, women 8.7%) but it is noted that the participants were a purposive sample from 18 select residential care facilities in Hong Kong and may not be a representative sample (Wong, 2011).

Summary

Both men and women with intellectual disabilities have been reported to be less likely to have a diagnosis of hypertension than men and women in the general population. However, hypertension may be underdiagnosed in people with intellectual disabilities. Further studies involving assessing participants for hypertension rather than relying on recorded diagnoses are required.

- Axmon A., Ahlström G. & Höglund P. (2017) Prevalence and treatment of diabetes mellitus and hypertension among older adults with intellectual disability in comparison with the general population. *BMC Geriatrics*, 17, 272-272.
- de Winter C. F., Bastiaanse L. P., Hilgenkamp T. I. M., Evenhuis H. M. & Echteld M. A. (2012) Cardiovascular risk factors (diabetes, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia and metabolic syndrome) in older people with intellectual disability: results of the HA-ID study. *Research In Developmental Disabilities*, 33, 1722-1731.
- Gillis E. E. & Sullivan J. C. (2016) Sex Differences in Hypertension: Recent Advances. *Hypertension*, 68, 1322-1327.
- McCarron M., Swinburne J., Burke E., McGlinchey E., Carroll R. & McCallion P. (2013) Patterns of multimorbidity in an older population of persons with an intellectual disability: results from the intellectual disability supplement to the Irish longitudinal study on aging (IDS-TILDA). *Research In Developmental Disabilities*, 34, 521-527.
- Ramirez L. A. & Sullivan J. C. (2018) Sex Differences in Hypertension: Where We Have Been and Where We Are Going. *American Journal of Hypertension*, 31, 1247-1254.
- Sohler N., Lubetkin E., Levy J., Soghomonian C. & Rimmerman A. (2009) Factors associated with obesity and coronary heart disease in people with intellectual disabilities. *Social Work In Health Care*, 48, 76-89.
- van de Louw J., Vorstenbosch R., Vinck L., Penning C. & Evenhuis H. (2009) Prevalence of hypertension in adults with intellectual disability in the Netherlands. *Journal Of Intellectual Disability Research*, 53, 78-84.
- Wallén F. E., Ljunggren G., Carlsson A. C., Pettersson D. & Wändell P. (2018) High prevalence of diabetes mellitus, hypertension and obesity among persons with a recorded diagnosis of intellectual disability or autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 62, 269-280.
- Wong C. W. (2011) Adults with intellectual disabilities living in Hong Kong's residential care facilities: A descriptive analysis of health and disease patterns by sex, age, and presence of Down syndrome. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, 8, 231-238.

Risk Factors: Physical Inactivity¹

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of physical activity levels among people with intellectual disabilities included 15 studies consisting of 3,159 participants (Dairo et al., 2016). Only 9% of participants met minimum physical activity guidelines. Gender was independently significantly correlated with the number of participants achieving physical activity guidelines, with the proportion of males being correlated to the number of participants achieving physical activity guidelines (Dairo et al., 2016). In the largest study included in the review, which included 1,542 adults with intellectual disabilities living in supported accommodation in Northern England, women were at significantly greater risk of physical inactivity (OR 1.9, 95% CI not given) (Emerson, 2005). A more recent study including 8,636 people in the US with intellectual and developmental disabilities found that more males met physical activity guidelines (14.9%) than females (11.7%) (chi square = 18.83 (df 1, N = 8,602), p < 0.001) as was the case for the general population (Stancliffe and Anderson, 2017). A recent study of 527 adolescents and young people with mild/moderate intellectual disabilities found that females with intellectual disability were more disadvantaged in relation to participation in sport and exercise (compared to females without intellectual disability) than males (Robertson et al., 2018).

Summary

Women with intellectual disabilities are less likely to take part in physical activity than men with intellectual disabilities and for both men and women the number meeting physical activity guidelines is extremely low.

- Dairo Y. M., Collett J., Dawes H. & Oskrochi G. R. (2016) Physical activity levels in adults with intellectual disabilities: A systematic review. *Preventive Medicine Reports,* 4, 209-219.
- Emerson E. (2005) Underweight, obesity and exercise among adults with intellectual disabilities in supported accommodation in Northern England. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 49, 134-143.
- Robertson J., Emerson E., Baines S. & Hatton C. (2018) Self-Reported Participation in Sport/Exercise Among Adolescents and Young Adults With and Without Mild to Moderate Intellectual Disability. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 15, 247-254.
- Stancliffe R. J. & Anderson L. L. (2017) Factors associated with meeting physical activity guidelines by adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 62, 1-14.

Risk Factors: Smoking¹

Among people with intellectual disabilities, men are more likely to smoke cigarettes than women as is the case in the general population (Steinberg, 2009), and substance use and misuse more generally among people with intellectual disabilities is associated with being male (Huxley et al., 2018). A recent study appears to be the first to specifically examine the influence of gender on tobacco use among people with intellectual and developmental disabilities (IDD) (Eisenbaum et al., 2018). Among 13,714 Special Olympics athletes, tobacco use prevalence was greater among men (8.1%) than among women (3.8%) (Eisenbaum et al., 2018). Based on a sample of 527 adolescents and young adults with mild to moderate intellectual disability compared to those without intellectual disability, males with intellectual disability (aged under 18) were at significantly greater risk of having ever smoked (28% versus 22%) and of smoking 6+ cigarettes a week (17% versus 11%) than males without intellectual disability (Robertson et al., 2018). Females with intellectual disability were at significantly less risk of having ever smoked than females without intellectual disability (22% versus 30%).

Summary

Men with intellectual disabilities are more likely to smoke than women with intellectual disabilities. Further research is needed to compare smoking rates among men and women with intellectual disabilies to smoking rates among the general population. Internationally, cultural differences are likely to influence smoking rates.

- Eisenbaum E., DiNitto D. M. & Bishop-Fitzpatrick L. (2018) Gender differences in tobacco use among U.S. Special Olympics athletes. *Disability and Health Journal*, **11**, 466-470.
- Huxley A., Dalton M., Tsui Y. Y. & Hayhurst K. P. (2018) Prevalence of alcohol, smoking, and illicit drug use amongst people with intellectual disabilities: review. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, 1-20.
- Robertson J., Emerson E., Baines S. & Hatton C. (2018) Self-reported smoking, alcohol and drug use among adolescents and young adults with and without mild to moderate intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual & Developmental Disability*, Online Early, 1-11.
- Steinberg M. L. H., L.; Williams, J.M. (2009) Tobacco use among individuals with intellectual or developmental disabilities: A brief review. *Intellectual & Developmental Disabilities*, 47, 11.

Risk Factors: High Cholesterol¹

An early study of 325 people with intellectual disabilities aged 17-72, based on blood tests, found that females with intellectual disabilities both with and without Down Syndrome had better lipid profiles than their male counterparts and appeared to have a lower risk of coronary heart disease (CHD) as a result of higher HDL-C and lower LDL-C values (Rimmer et al., 1992). More recently, among 611 people aged 50-70 with intellectual disabilities receiving formal care or support in the Netherlands, high cholesterol (determined via a blood test) was less prevalent in men and women compared to the general population (men with intellectual disabilities 15.6% (95% CI 23.7, 34.1) vs 40.2% (95% CI 37.3, 43.0)) (de Winter et al., 2012). In multivariate logistic regression for a larger sample including those aged over 70 (n=724), being female was associated with high cholesterol in people with intellectual disabilities being 16.5% (95% CI 12.8, 20.3) compared to 30.1% (95% CI 25.3, 34.9) for women (de Winter et al., 2012).

A study of 811 people with intellectual disabilities in Hong Kong found that rates of recorded high cholesterol were similar for men and women (men 1.4%, women 1%) but it is noted that the participants were a purposive sample from 18 select residential care facilities in Hong Kong and may not be a representative sample (Wong, 2011). Of 291 adults with intellectual disabilities living in New York City, based on data from a review of medical records, 77 (26.5%) had high cholesterol and females were less likely to have high cholesterol than males (adjusted Odd Ratio 0.42 (95% CI 0.24, 0.75)) (Sohler et al., 2009).

Summary

There is little evidence regarding gender differences in relation to high cholesterol in people with intellectual disabilities. Studies based on recorded diagnoses present conflicting findings but high cholesterol is likely to be underdiagnosed. More studies based on blood testing are required to clarify any gender differences and the age related nature of any differences.

- de Winter C. F., Bastiaanse L. P., Hilgenkamp T. I. M., Evenhuis H. M. & Echteld M. A. (2012) Cardiovascular risk factors (diabetes, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia and metabolic syndrome) in older people with intellectual disability: results of the HA-ID study. *Research In Developmental Disabilities*, 33, 1722-1731.
- Rimmer J. H., Braddock D. & Fujiura G. (1992) Blood lipid and percent body fat levels in Down syndrome versus non-DS persons with mental retardation. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 9, 123-129.
- Sohler N., Lubetkin E., Levy J., Soghomonian C. & Rimmerman A. (2009) Factors associated with obesity and coronary heart disease in people with intellectual disabilities. *Social Work In Health Care*, 48, 76-89.
- Wong C. W. (2011) Adults with intellectual disabilities living in Hong Kong's residential care facilities: A descriptive analysis of health and disease patterns by sex, age, and presence of Down syndrome. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, 8, 231-238.

Risk Factors: Metabolic Syndrome¹

Metabolic syndrome is a condition characterized by the co-existence of several major risk factors for cardiovascular disease (CVD) including high blood pressure, hyperglycaemia, and dyslipidaemia (reduced high density lipoprotein cholesterol or raised triglycerides) (Han and Lean, 2015). The International Diabetes Federation estimates that one quarter of the World's population has metabolic syndrome (O'Neill and O'Driscoll, 2015). In persons with metabolic syndrome, the risk of developing type II diabetes is five times greater and the risk of stroke and myocardial infarction is three times higher as compared to normal/healthy persons (Zafar et al., 2018). Metabolic syndrome is associated with significantly higher risk of cardiovascular complications such as coronary and peripheral arterial diseases, arrhythmias, congestive cardiac failure, and stroke (Zafar et al., 2018). Metabolic steatosis and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), hypogonadism, polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS), obstructive sleep apnoea, vascular dementia, Alzheimer's disease, and carcinomas, especially pancreatic and colorectal cancers (Zafar et al., 2018).

In the general population, the prevalence of metabolic syndrome differs by gender and age, being slightly higher in men below the age of 50 but reversing after that age to a female preponderance (Zafar et al., 2018). Among 492 people aged 50-70 with intellectual disabilities receiving formal care or support in the Netherlands, metabolic syndrome was less prevalent in men with intellectual disabilities (27.5% (95% CI 22.2, 32.9) compared to men aged 50-70 in the general population (44.8% (95% CI 41.8, 47.8)). It was more prevalent in women with intellectual disabilities (46.2% (95% CI 39.6, 52.7) than in women aged 50-70 in the general population (36.6% (95% Cl 33.8, 39.4)) (de Winter et al., 2012). In multivariate logistic regression for a larger sample including those aged over 70 (n=584), being female was associated with metabolic syndrome in people with intellectual disabilities (OR 2.8 (95% CI 1.9, 4.1)) (de Winter et al., 2012), with the rate of metabolic syndrome for men with intellectual disabilities being 36.5% (95% CI 31.2, 41.8) compared to 54.3% (95% CI 48.3, 60.2) for women (de Winter et al., 2012). Of 164 adults with intellectual disabilities in one Taiwanese institution, metabolic syndrome prevalence was 8.0% for men and 17.2% for women (Hsu et al., 2012). Of 129 adults with intellectual disabilities in one Taiwanese institution who participated in annual examinations, prevalence of metabolic syndrome was 9.6% in men and 16.1% in women (Chang et al., 2012).

Summary

The small amount of evidence suggests that metabolic syndrome may be more common among women than men with intellectual disabilities. Metabolic syndrome may be more common among older women with intellectual disabilities than among older women in the general population, but lower among older men with intellectual disabilities than among older men in the general population. Further research is required to confirm this.

- Chang Y.-W., Lin J.-D., Chen W.-L., Yen C.-F., Loh C.-H., Fang W.-H. & Wu L.-W. (2012) Metabolic syndrome and short-term heart rate variability in adults with intellectual disabilities. *Research In Developmental Disabilities*, 33, 1701-1707.
- de Winter C. F., Bastiaanse L. P., Hilgenkamp T. I. M., Evenhuis H. M. & Echteld M. A. (2012) Cardiovascular risk factors (diabetes, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia and metabolic syndrome) in older people with intellectual disability: results of the HA-ID study. *Research In Developmental Disabilities*, 33, 1722-1731.

Han T. S. & Lean M. E. J. (2015) Metabolic syndrome. *Medicine*, 43, 80-87.

- Hsu S.-W., Yen C.-F., Hung W.-J., Lin L.-P., Wu C.-L. & Lin J.-D. (2012) The risk of metabolic syndrome among institutionalized adults with intellectual disabilities. *Research In Developmental Disabilities*, 33, 615-620.
- O'Neill S. & O'Driscoll L. (2015) Metabolic syndrome: a closer look at the growing epidemic and its associated pathologies. *Obesity Reviews*, 16, 1-12.
- Zafar U., Khaliq S., Ahmad H. U., Manzoor S. & Lone K. P. (2018) Metabolic syndrome: an update on diagnostic criteria, pathogenesis, and genetic links. *Hormones*, **17**, 299-313.

Low and Middle Income Countries

Whilst some evidence exists regarding mortality among people with intellectual disabilities in LAMI countries (e.g. Lakhan and Kishore, 2016), we have identified scant information regarding gender and mortality in LAMI countries. However, it is clear that issues relating to mortality may be qualitatively different in LAMI countries than those in high income countries. For example, parasitic infections, caused by intestinal helminths and protozoan parasites, are among the most prevalent infections in humans in developing countries and cause a significant morbidity and mortality in endemic countries (Hague, 2007). Of 200 people with intellectual disabilities in Egypt, 87 (43.5%) were infected with intestinal parasites, 46.7% of males and 38.5% of females (non significant), most commonly cryptosporidium (23.5%) and and microsporidia (15%) (Shehata and Hassanein, 2015). Mortality is also elevated in comparison to high income countries. Congenital heart disease (CHD) was found to be a major cause of death among 543 children with Down syndrome in India, and the first year survival rate for infants with CHD was 44%, and 79% for those without CHD (Nahar et al., 2013). This compares to first year survival of those with Down syndrome without CHD approaching 100% in developed countries, and 71.7% for those with CHD. The high mortality rate found is likely to be due to lack of adequate and timed cardiac care (Nahar et al., 2013). Based on 102 girls with Rett syndrome in Serbia, it was concluded that Serbian Rett syndrome patients have an increased risk for early death when compared to patients in more developed countries, most commonly due to pneumonia (Sarajlija et al., 2015). Further research is required to identify any gender differences in relation to the mortality of people with intellectual disabilities in LAMI countries.

Summary

Mortality for people with intellectual disabilities is likely to be elevated in low and middle income (LAMI) countries compared to high income countries. Qualitative differences in issues related to mortality are likely to exist between LAMI and high income countries. Further research is required to identify any gender differences in relation to the mortality of people with intellectual disabilities in LAMI countries.

- Haque R. (2007) Human intestinal parasites. *Journal of Health, Population, and Nutrition,* 25, 387-391.
- Lakhan R. & Kishore T. M. (2016) Mortality in people with Intellectual Disability in India: correlates of age and settings. *Life Span & Disability*, 19, 45-56.
- Nahar R., Kotecha U., Puri R. D., Pandey R. M., Verma I. C., Nahar R., Kotecha U., Puri R. D., Pandey R. M. & Verma I. C. (2013) Survival analysis of Down syndrome cohort in a tertiary health care center in India. *Indian Journal Of Pediatrics*, 80, 118-123.
- Sarajlija A., Kisic-Tepavcevic D., Nikolic Z., Savic Pavicevic D., Obradovic S., Djuric M. & Pekmezovic T. (2015) Epidemiology of Rett syndrome in Serbia: prevalence, incidence and survival. *Neuroepidemiology*, 44, 1-5.
- Shehata A. I. & Hassanein F. (2015) Intestinal parasitic infections among mentally handicapped individuals in Alexandria, Egypt. *Annals Of Parasitology*, 61, 275-281.